

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations–Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences

Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences

2023

# THE ROLE OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX-1 PATHOBIOLOGY IN ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS

Shayan Mohammadmoradi *University of Kentucky*, smo255@uky.edu Author ORCID Identifier: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4595-6765 Digital Object Identifier: https://doi.org/10.13023/etd.2023.037

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

### **Recommended Citation**

Mohammadmoradi, Shayan, "THE ROLE OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX-1 PATHOBIOLOGY IN ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations— Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences*. 45. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/pharmacol\_etds/45

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

### STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

### **REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE**

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Shayan Mohammadmoradi, Student Dr. Alan Daugherty, Major Professor

Dr. Howard Glauert, Director of Graduate Studies

## STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, nonexclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

### REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Shayan Mohammadmoradi, Student

Dr. Alan Daugherty

Dr. Howard Glauert, Director of Graduate Studies

# THE ROLE OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX-1 PATHOBIOLOGY IN ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS

# DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Medicine at the University of Kentucky

By Shayan Mohammadmoradi Director: Dr. Alan Daugherty, Professor of Physiology Lexington, Kentucky 2022

Copyright © Shayan Mohammadmoradi 2022 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4595-6765

### ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

# ROLE OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX-1 IN ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS

Abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAAs) are permanent luminal dilations of the vessel wall that can result in rupture and death. There is currently no evidence-based treatment to prevent or attenuate the development of this devastating condition. Although vascular inflammation is known to be one of the hallmarks of AAA, underlying mechanisms that initiate inflammatory pathways in the aorta are not clearly known. High-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), a highly conserved nonhistone DNA-binding nuclear protein, may contribute to vascular diseases. Since whole-body genetic deletion of HMGB1 is embryonic lethal, pharmacological approaches have been used to manipulate HMGB1 in mice. However, it remains desirable to genetically manipulate HMGB1 to further understand its role. In the body of work presented here, we assessed the contributing role of HMGB1 in AAA development and the efficacy of neutralization and a novel antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) approach to deplete HMGB1 in mice.

To examine the role of HMGB1 in AAA development, we assessed the gene expression profile of human and murine aneurysmal samples, indicating a marked upregulation of inflammatory pathways and HMGB1 in the abdominal aorta of diseased tissue. Further validations at the early stages of experimental AAA by utilizing the Angiotensin II (AngII) model also indicated a marked increase of HMGB1 protein abundance in the abdominal aorta of male LDLr-/- mice. To determine the role of HMGB1 inhibition in AngII-induced AAAs, a monoclonal anti-HMGB1 antibody (2G7) or an isotype-matched control were intraperitoneally injected into 8-10-week-old male LDLr-/- mice that were infused with AngII for 28 days. Neutralizing HMGB1 with a low dose did not show a significant decrease in the abdominal aortic diameter of AngII-infused mice. Next, we examined the efficacy of seven different ASOs in reducing HMGB1 protein abundance at selected intervals. Either ASOs or phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) were injected into male C57BL/6J mice (8-10-week-old) at days 0 and 3 in the initial week and then once a week during the remainder of the study. Subsequently, mRNA and protein abundance of HMGB1 were determined in the various tissues. After screening various ASOs to determine the most optimum version

and to further investigate the role of systemic HMGB1 inhibition in aneurysm formation, hypercortisolemic male mice fed a Western diet were infused with AngII for four weeks to induce aneurysm and were injected with PBS or HMGB1 ASO. Our results indicated a profound significant attenuation of AAA in ASO administered group. Collectively, our data established that the ASO approach could significantly decrease HMGB1 expression, and its inhibition in an experimental aneurysm model can profoundly attenuate the AngII-induced AAA formation. Further, utilizing an ASO approach to inhibit HMGB1 can provide more clear insights into understanding the biological functions of HMGB1 with strong clinical significance.

# KEYWORDs: Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm, HMGB1, Angiotensin-II, Antisense Oligonucleotide

Shayan Mohammadmoradi

(Name of Student)

02/14/23

Date

# ROLE OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX-1 IN ANGIOTENSIN II-INDUCED ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSMS

By Shayan Mohammadmoradi

Dr. Alan Daugherty

Director of Dissertation

Dr. Howard Glauert

Director of Graduate Studies

02/14/23

Date

# DEDICATION

To my mentor, Alan, who allowed me to see the hope inside myself. To my parents, Azita and Frood, for their eternal love and support. To Aida, my love and soulmate. And to friends who turned to family

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Countless people supported my efforts to complete my Ph.D. dissertation. I am in debt of colleagues, family and friends who made this day possible.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my advisor Professor Alan Daugherty for his mentorship, immense support during both bright and dark days, patience and encouragement. Not only he taught me how to be a good scientist, but also, he showed me "science is no substitute for virtue; the heart is as necessary for a good life as the head (Bertrand Russell)".

I am deeply grateful to my Dissertation Committee, Dr. Venkateswaran Subramanian, Dr. Nancy Webb, and Dr. Steve Estus who challenged my thinking and offered their support at each step of my scientific growth. Special thanks to Dr. Subramanian, my previous mentor, for teaching me the basics of how to do science and the detailed feedback.

My heartfelt appreciation goes to Dr. Hisashi Sawada, for his friendship, guidance, and teaching me how to be meticulous in science and life. My appreciation also extends to Dr. Hong Lu, for her valuable suggestions and support throughout the years.

I also express my gratitude to members of our laboratory (my scientific family), Deborah Howatt, Jessica Moorleghen, Michael Franklin and Jenny Liang, whose expertise and support contributed to my success. Thankful to my peers, Dr. Sohei Ito, Dr. Naofomi Amioka and Alex Petty for their camaraderie and brilliant comments.

I owe a very important debt to my parents. Since the day I set foot in a foreign land to make a new life and to call it my new home, they have been the backbone of my support. Years that I was away from them, Holidays I missed, joys and sorrows that I was absent, all are a part of this moment. Thank you for the infinite love, support and unwavering belief in me. Additionally, I want to thank the greatest group of friends who turned to family in all the years of their companionship.

Above all, thank you Dr. Aida Javidan, for your love, constant support, late nights and early mornings, scientific conversations over lunch and for keeping me sane under all the pressures. Thank you for being my practice audience, my scientific consultant and my competition. And, thank you for being my best friend. I could not do it without you.

iii

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
CHAPTER 1. Literature Review: A Comprehensive Look at HMGB1: An Emerging Trouper in Vascular Biology?	1
1.1 HMGB1 Structure	2
1.2 HMGB1 Secretion: Active and Passive Release	2
1.3 HMGB1 Post Translational Modifications	5
1.3.1 HMGB1 Acetylation	5
1.3.2 HMGB1 Phosphorylation	10
1.3.5 HMGB1 ADP-HDOSylation	10
1.3.5 HMGB1 Redex Status (Ovidation)	11
1.4 HMGB1 Passive Release	1/
1 4 1 Pyrontosis	14
1 4 2 Apoptosis	15
1.4.3 Necrosis and Necroptosis	.16
1.4.4 Other Modes of Cell Death	17
1.4.5 NETosis and Activated Platelets	18
1.5 HMGB1 Receptor Interactions and Functions	19
1.5.1 Nuclear HMGB1	19
1.5.2 Cytoplasmic HMGB1	21
1.5.3 Extracellular HMGB1	22
1.5.4 HMGB1-RAGE Axis	24
1.5.5 HMGB1 and TLRs Axis	26
1.6 HMGB1 and Vascular Disease	27
1.6.1 HMGB1 and Atherosclerosis	27
1.6.2 HMGB1 and Vascular Remodeling	30
1.6.3 HMGB1 and Aortic Aneurysms	31
1.6.4 Blood pressure and Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension	33
1.7 Therapeutic Approaches	37
1.8 Conclusion	37
CHAPTER 2. Role of HMGB1 in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Development	39
2.1 Lipopolysaccharide Fails to Augment Development of Angiotensin II- induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Normal and Hypercholesterolemic	с
Mice	39
2.2 Role of HMGB1 in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm 2.2.1 Methodology	43 44

2.2.2 Results	. 48
2.2.3 Discussion	. 55 . 56
CHAPTER 3. Sustained Inhibition of High Mobility Group Box 1 by Antisense Oligonucleotide and its inhibition effect on AAA	. 58
<ul><li>3.1 Introduction: HMGB1 ASOs</li><li>3.2 Methodology</li></ul>	. 58 . 61
3.2.1 Animals and Mouse Studies 3.2.2 Administration of Antisense Oligonucleotides	.61 .61
3.2.3 Western Blot and qPCR	. 62
3.2.5 Blood Pressure Measurement	. 62 . 63
3.2.6 Aortic Pathology Measurements	. 63
3.3.1 <i>Hmgb1</i> Was Highly Abundant in Multiple Organs in Both Male and Female C57BL/6J Mice	. 65
3.3.2 HMGB1 ASO Injection Significantly Reduced <i>Hmgb1</i> mRNA and Protein Abundance	65
3.3.3 HMGB1 Inhibition Attenuates Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Ac Aneurysm 3.4 Discussion	ortic . 71 . 78
CHAPTER 4. General DISCUSSION, Limitations, and future directions	. 80
REFERENCES	. 86
Vita	106

# CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW: A COMPREHENSIVE LOOK AT HMGB1: AN EMERGING TROUPER IN VASCULAR BIOLOGY?

The high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) alarmin is an evolutionarily conserved 215 amino acids non-histone chromatin-binding protein with high electrophoretic mobility, which was first extracted from calf thymus in 1973 [1, 2]. It resides in the nucleolus of various cell types under normal physiological conditions. It is known to contribute to DNA replication, repair, and recombination as well as genome stability by enhancing the accessibility of binding sites to transcription factors and nucleosomes [3, 4]. The vital role of HMGB1 in physiology and pathology can be well exemplified by the lethality of *Hmgb1* genetic deletion right after birth [5]. The discovery of HMGB1 as a secretory molecule in 1999 highlighted its role as a multifactorial protein mediating innate and adaptive immune responses [6]. Not long after the discovery of extracellular HMGB1, it was reported that *Hmgb1* deficient necrotic cells have a marked reduction in inducing tumor necrosis factor (TNF) release from cocultured macrophages while HMGB1 in apoptotic cells stays firmly bound to the chromatics and fails to induce an inflammatory response verifying its seminal role as a critical proinflammatory mediator [7].

Given the proinflammatory nature of many different vascular anomalies, mounting evidence started to report the emerging role of HMGB1 in the pathophysiology of various vascular complications such as atherosclerosis, abdominal aortic aneurysm, pulmonary hypertension, and vascular remodeling. Given the complexity of the HMGB1 release mechanism and the involvement of a vast cascade of compounds relevant to the HMGB1 mechanism of action, this work is focused on a comprehensive review of multiple aspects of HMGB1 biology with a particular emphasis on its role as a novel contributing factor to vascular disease.

#### 1.1 HMGB1 Structure

The HMGB1 protein (MW: 25–30 kDa) shows a 99% homology in mammals. Its structure is arranged to two consecutive positively charged DNAbinding motifs, HMG A box domain (amino acids 9–79 amino acids) and HMG B box domain (amino acids 89–162), followed by a negatively charged acidic Cterminal tail (amino acids186–215) rich in aspartic and glutamic acid (**Figure 1**) [3]. The HMGB1 boxes are structured in three alpha helices with two loops that form an L shape. During cellular homeostasis, the HMGB1 lysine-rich nuclear localization signals (NLSs) secure the dominant presence of HMGB1 in the nucleus, although HMGB1 shuttles continuously between the nucleolus and cytoplasm. In addition to NLS 1 (amino acids 28-44) and NLS 2 (amino acids 179-185), HMGB1 also has two nuclear export sequences (NESs), which are in the DNA binding domains and are involved in its localization [8].

#### 1.2 HMGB1 Secretion: Active and Passive Release

The release of HMGB1 from cells results in exhibiting proinflammatory cytokine-like functions. Most secretory proteins generally include a leader peptide and exploit the conventional endoplasmic reticulum (ER)/Golgi pathway to undergo secretion. However, HMGB1 lacks the leader sequence, and its secretion to the extracellular milieu ensues from active or passive release in both somatic and immune cells. The passive release occurs instantly after various modes of cell death, while the slower HMGB1 active release necessitates two crucial steps. The first step is nucleocytoplasmic translocation and cytoplasmic accumulation of HMGB1 after stimulation which depends on post-translation modifications (PTMs) of HMGB1. The second step occurs either via pyroptosis (programmed, proinflammatory cell death) or the exocytosis of secretory lysosomes that deliver HMGB1 outside the cell (**Figure 2**).



**Figure 1-1: Overall Structure of HMGB1 and Its Main Interaction Domains.** HMGB1 is a 215-amino acid protein that is comprised of two positively charged DNA-binding motifs followed by a negatively charged acidic tail. NLS, nuclear localization sequence; RAGE, receptor for advanced glycation end products; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4. Arrows indicate known binding domains or sequences of HMGB1.



**Figure 1-2: Overall view of HMGB1 Release Mechanisms.** The passive release occurs instantly after various modes of cell death, while the slower HMGB1 active release necessitates two crucial steps. The first step is nucleocytoplasmic translocation and cytoplasmic accumulation of HMGB1 after stimulation which depends on post-translation modifications (PTMs) of HMGB1.

#### **1.3 HMGB1 Post Translational Modifications**

During stimulation and stress, the regulation of HMGB1 release is driven by the PTMs, such as hyperacetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and oxidation (**Figure 3**) that result in its accumulation in cytoplasm (step I) and further extracellular secretion (step II). In immune and non-immune cells, HMGB1 shuttles between nucleolus and cytoplasm via passive diffusion or the nuclear transport receptor exportin 1 (XPO1, also known as chromosome-region maintenance 1 (CRM1)).

#### 1.3.1 HMGB1 Acetylation

Classic studies in monocytes and macrophages have shown that the lipopolysaccharide (LPS), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ), or interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ) derived hyperacetylation of lysine residues (Lys27-29 and Lys181-183) on NLS1 and NLS2 which are driven by increased histone acetyltransferase (HAT) or decreased histone deacetylase (HDAC) are a crucial regulator of HMGB1 shuttling and cytoplasmic accumulation [9, 10]. Stimulation of monocytes with LPS, TNF $\alpha$ , or IL-1β results in the acetylation of HMGB1 NLS sites [9]. The acetylation of lysine residues by CREB binding protein (CBP), histone acetyltransferase p300 (p300) or P300/CBP-associated factor (PCAF) prevents HMGB1 return to the nucleolus and promotes its cytoplasmic accumulation [3, 9] by potentially increased affinity to CRM1 or reduced binding affinity to the nuclear importin protein karyopherin-1 (KAP-α1). Underaceytaled HMGB1 favors the increased rate of nuclear import and its predominant nuclear localization. Upon stimulation of pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) by proinflammatory signals such as IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , LPS, or HMGB1 itself, the NF-kB, calcium, and MAPK pathways are activated. The activation of these signaling pathways disrupts the equilibrium between HATs and HDACs in favor of acetylation and reduces HMGB1 nuclear import. In hematopoietic cells, once the cytosolic acetylated HMGB1 accumulates,

lysosomal exocytosis drives the release of HMGB1 (**Figure 4**). The specific signals and mechanisms that result in loading HMGB1 to secretory lysosome have not yet been elucidated. None-hematopoietic cells also follow the same steps for nucleocytoplasmic redistribution; however, secretory lysosomes do not appear to be involved in the extracellular release, and additional pathways have not been investigated [10].



**Figure 1-3: Sites of HMGB1 Post Translational Modifications.** During stimulation and stress, the regulation of HMGB1 release is driven by the PTMs, such as hyperacetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and oxidation that result in its accumulation in cytoplasm and further extracellular secretion. Ac, acetylation; P, phosphorylation; Me, methylation; G, glycosylation; ADPr, ADP-ribosylation; O, oxidation



**Figure 1-4: HMGB1 Active Release.** HMGB1 release mechanism is complex and involves multiple regulatory steps. Hyperacetylation of HMGB1 due to stress or inflammatory signals results in its cytoplasmic accumulation through increased affinity with nuclear export protein, CRM1. Acetylated HMGB1 is then released to the extracellular milieu via an inflammasome-dependent pathway.

Previous studies have established a central role of type 1 and type 2 interferons (IFNs) and downstream JAK/STAT1 signaling activation in HMGB1 acetylation [11-16]. Mass spectrometry analysis revealed that Interferences with this signaling cascade, such as genetic deletion of STAT1, extracellular IFN- $\beta$  neutralization, or pharmacological inhibition of JAK/STAT, drastically abolishes LPS- or IFN-induced HMGB1 release from macrophages by decreased acetylation in the NLS sites [11, 13]. Other studies in murine macrophages also showed that IFN- $\gamma$ -induced release of HMGB1 depends on the phosphorylation of JAK1 and JAK2 and subsequent recruitment of STAT1 [12] providing another line of evidence in the seminal role of this pathway in HMGB1 release. Nonetheless, the intricate molecular cascade underlying regulation of HMGB1 release via IFN- $\gamma$  remains to be further investigated.

To further understand the downstream JAK/STAT1 mediated HMGB1 acetylation, a recent study revealed the influential role of Interferon regulatory factor 1 (IRF1) utilizing a liver ischemia-reperfusion (I/R) injury model [15]. After liver I/R injury, IRF1 deficient mice exhibited a significant serum HMGB1 reduction and increased HMGB1 nucleocytoplasmic shuttling in hepatocytes via a HAT P300-dependant mechanism. Overexpression of IRF1 alone and in the absence of any liver injury also induced HMGB1 translocation and release from hepatocytes [15]. Further investigation also identified that toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is necessary for IRF1 activation. After activation of TLR4 via endogenous molecules released early from neighboring cells or general extracellular oxidative stress drives the IRF1 activation and HMGB1 release [15]. Thus, TLR4 participates in the HMGB1 release and in its receptor interaction since TLR4 is a primary receptor for HMGB1. Molecules involved in TLR4 activation prior to the first wave of HMGB1 release and the mechanism by which TLR4 regulates IRF1 remain to be elucidated.

Further, IRF1 deficiency or its upstream JAK inhibition also has been shown to increase survival rate and significantly decrease systemic HMGB1 in LPSinduced endotoxemia as well as decreased cytoplasmic accumulation in LPS- stimulated macrophages via a P300-dependant mechanism [17]. It is also worth mentioning that the classical inflammatory signaling pathway, NF- $\kappa$ B, may be also involved in HMGB1 active release. The canonical NF- $\kappa$ B pathway limits HMGB1 secretion in activated immune cells [18, 19]. Apart from in vitro studies, animal studies in LPS-induced lung injury models have also shown the regulatory role of NF- $\kappa$ B in HMGB1 expression [19]. Previous reports indicated a potential functional NF- $\kappa$ B binding site for the HMGB1 gene [20], and in line with these findings, NF- $\kappa$ B specific inhibition markedly reduced HMGB1 expression in lung tissue after lung injury insult [19]. Thus, inhibiting the NF- $\kappa$ B signal pathway can potentially suppress the positive feedback loop of HMGB1 and early inflammatory modulators.

Similarly, recent studies demonstrated that sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), a protein deacetylase, modulates HMGB1 release in murine macrophages, kidney cells, and animal models of endotoxemia [21-23]. SIRT1 directly interacts with HMGB1 in quiescent cells and preserves HMGB1 in a hypo-acetylated state to inhibit its nucleocytoplasmic translocation [22]. However, this protein-protein interaction dissociates under inflammatory stimulation such as LPS, TNF $\alpha$ , IFN-y, and Poly (I:C) through acetylation of HMGB1 at Lys28-30 located at NLS sites which allows HMGB1 release from the nucleus by increased association to CRM1 [22, 24]. Inhibition of CRM1 in macrophages has significantly reduced HMGB1 cytoplasmic translocation and release [25, 26]. Also, the nucleocytoplasmic translocation of HMGB1 in stimulated macrophages can be subsided by the molecular chaperone heat shock protein family A member 1A (HSPA1A, also known as HSP72), given its inhibitory effect on CRM1 and HMGB1 interaction [27]. As reported by multiple studies, acetylated HMGB1 could be a biomarker for HMGB1 secretion; however, specific antibodies against acetylated HMGB1 have not yet developed, and detecting acetylated HMGB1 depends on mass spectrometry.

#### 1.3.2 HMGB1 Phosphorylation

Besides acetylation, HMGB1 release is finely tuned by its NLS region phosphorylation. TNFα-induced release of HMGB1 from immune cells was shown to be dependent on the phosphorylation in the serine residues of the HMGB1 NLS 1 and 2 (Ser35, 39, 42, 46, 53 and, 181) [28]. Given that these positively charged residues are crucial for binding to the nuclear importin proteins, HMGB1 phosphorylation can alter the charge of HMGB1 NLS sites and decrease the binding affinity with KAP- $\alpha$ 1 nuclear importin protein, thereby preventing itself from re-entry to the nucleus [10, 28]. Further studies in macrophages and monocytes investigating the kinase enzymes responsible for HMGB1 phosphorylation showed that HMGB1 phosphorylation is regulated by the classical protein kinase C (cPKC) in a calcium-dependent manner via the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-PKC signaling pathway [29]. Also, Inhibition of calcium signaling pathways or knockout/knockdown of Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase type IV (CaMKIV) has been shown to inhibit HMGB1 secretion in stimulated macrophages [30] and hepatocytes during ischemic reperfusion injury [31]. Whether CaMKIV directly mediates HMGB1 serine phosphorylation within NLS sites remains to be elucidated.

#### 1.3.3 HMGB1 ADP-ribosylation

Recently, it has been shown that ADP-ribosylation at glutamate residues 40, 47, and 179 driven by poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (PARP1) is another PTM that synergizes with acetylation and facilities HMGB1 translocation in stimulated macrophages, human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) and cardiac fibroblasts [32-37]. Further studies on the HMGB1 release mechanism reported that LPS stimulation or DNA damage by alkylating agents in macrophages or mouse embryonic fibroblasts activates PARP-1, increases cytoplasmic redistribution of HMGB1 and consequently drives the extracellular release due to necrosis-driven increased permeability of the cell membrane [32,

33, 35]. Additionally, It has been reported that LPS-induced HMGB1 release in bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) is mediated through the reactive oxygen species (ROS)/ERK/PARP-1 signaling pathway and consequent elevation in the activity ratio of HATs and HDACs via regulating the expression of PCAF, CBP, P300, and HDAC4 in the nucleus [32, 35].

#### 1.3.4 HMGB1 Methylation and glycosylation

Studies in neutrophilic differentiations have shown that mono-methylation of HMGB1 (Lys42) is another PTM that alters the conformation of HMGB1 and dampens its DNA binding affinity leading to its cytoplasmic translocation by passive diffusion [38]. Mono-methylation of Lys112 in renal cells has also been found to contribute toward HMGB1 cytoplasmic localization [39]; however, it is not clear what is the exclusive pathway that results in HMGB1 methylation during active secretion. It was recently reported that HMGB1 could also undergo Nglycosylation at asparagine residues (Asn37, 134 and, 137) that can persuade its secretion by attenuating its binding with DNA and increasing the CRM1 association through a yet to be defined mechanism [40].

#### 1.3.5 HMGB1 Redox Status (Oxidation)

The function and extracellular secretion of HMGB1 is tightly regulated by its redox status, which is controlled by three critical redox-sensitive cysteine residues: Cys23 and Cys45, located in A-box and, Cys106, located in B-box, which are in a fully reduced state in quiescent cells. Consequently, HMGB1 can undergo conformational changes in response to oxidative stress and take three isoforms: all thiol, disulfide form, and a fully oxidized form. Oxidation of these cysteines results in a shift between helix I and helix II in the HMGB1 A-box domain that lowers DNA binding affinity by shifting the orientation of Phe3, hence resulting in cytoplasmic translocation [41]. It has also been shown that Cys106 is a critical

regulator of nucleocytoplasmic shuttling, as its mutations impair the HMGB1 nuclear distribution [42].

Early works on cultured macrophages and monocytes have shown that reactive oxygen species like hydrogen peroxide induce HMGB1 active secretion via a CRM1-dependant mechanism [43]. Further investigation also showed that hydrogen peroxide-induced HMGB1 release is almost wholly abrogated after manipulating MAPK signaling cascade by specific inhibition of JNK, MEK1/2 and, ERK1/2 [43]. At the same time, LPS-induced HMGB1 release mechanism also depended on p38 [12, 44] with, IFNγ-induced release of HMGB1 being independent of the MAPK signaling [12]. The use of distinct signaling pathways in immune and non-immune cells to trigger HMGB1 release in response to different inflammatory stimuli highlights the complexity of the HMGB1 release mechanism, with underlying regulatory steps remaining elusive. Other findings also indicate the possible synergistic role of Notch signaling pathway in the LPS-induced HMGB1 release in macrophages and potentially *in vivo* in a JNK-dependent manner. Yet, the exact role of the Notch pathway in the HMGB1 release mechanism needs further studies [45].

Studies additionally reported that the generation of hydrogen peroxide in response to inflammatory stimuli such as TNFα or LPS as well as chemicals such as phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) and trichostatin A (TSA) could induce HMGB1 oxidation in monocytes and macrophages, resulting in the formation of an intramolecular disulfide bond between Cys23 and Cys45 while keeping Cys106 in the reduced form [9, 28, 43]. Enzymatic catalysis of thiol–disulfide exchange driven by the de-glutathionylaton enzyme glutaredoxin (Grx) or thioredoxin (Trx) may contribute to the regulation of cysteine's oxidation state [46]. To establish whether the catalytic activity of thiol oxidoreductase can reverse oxidative modification of the HMGB1, *In vitro* studies in retinal pigment epithelial cells have shown that disulfide-HMGB1 could be reversed after incubation with recombinant Trx or Grx [46]. Further studies are warranted to determine whether reversible oxidation of HMGB1 cysteines occurs *in vivo*.

Lately, it was shown that HMGB1 oxidation could be catalyzed by hydrogen peroxide eliminating enzymes such as peroxiredoxin I (PrxI) and PrxII, which are first oxidized by mitochondria derived-hydrogen peroxide and consequent transfer of the disulfide oxidation state to HMGB1 [47]. Disulfide HMGB1 shows a higher affinity for nuclear exportin CRM1 resulting in the increase of nucleocytoplasmic translocation in a CRM1-dependent manner and consequent active extracellular secretion via secretory lysosomes [47]. Prxl or Prxll knockout mice exhibit marked attenuation of LPS-induced HMGB1 secretion in macrophages or mouse embryonic fibroblasts, as well as reduced serum HMGB1 level [41, 42, 47]. Altogether, HMGB1 oxidation and reduction are induced by PrxI/II, Trx, or Grx, and like acetylated HMGB1, oxidized HMGB1 could be less favored for nuclear, resulting in cytosolic accumulation. Oxidized-HMGB1 in the cytosol is packed into lysosomes through a yet unknown mechanism and then secreted to the extracellular milieu. Given the substantial role of HMGB1 oxidation in its secretion compared to acetylation and phosphorylation, control of HMGB1 oxidation could be a therapeutic approach for investigation.

Given the seminal role of oxidative stress in HMGB1 secretion, earlier studies have also looked at the role of key regulators of response to oxidative stress [48, 49]. Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor (NRF2, also known as NFE2 like BZIP transcription factor 2 (NFE2L2)) is a transcription factor that triggers the expression of various antioxidant genes such as heme oxygenase-1 (HMOX1, also known as HO-1) [49, 50]. In addition to its primary function in heme homeostasis. HMOX1 exhibits critical immunomodulatory functions in macrophages and their inflammatory response [51]. LPS-induced active release of HMGB1 in macrophages is inhibited after the upregulation of HMOX1 or NRF2 [49]. Of interest, HMOX1 deficient mice showed increased serum HMGB1 in response to the low dose of LPS administration, while the insult did not increase HMGB1 in wildtype mice which is a further elucidation of HMOX1 role in HMGB1 active secretion [48].

#### 1.4 HMGB1 Passive Release

In response to stimuli or damage, various forms of cell death can contribute to HMGB1 passive release including, pyroptosis, apoptosis, necrosis, ferroptosis, NETosis, necroptosis and, autophagy-dependent cell death [3, 10, 52].

#### 1.4.1 Pyroptosis

Inflammatory programmed cell death or, pyroptosis, has been implicated as one of the major pathways for HMGB1 release especially, in sepsis [17, 53]. During the pyroptosis, double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase (PKR, also known as EIF2AK2) induces caspase-1 activation, inflammasome formation and consequent translocation of cytoplasmic HMGB1 to the extracellular milieu in response to inflammatory stimuli [54]. HMGB1 release in peritoneal macrophages from PKR-deficient mice was significantly lower than in wild-type macrophages. In addition, studies indicated that PKR deficient mice showed significantly lower plasma HMGB1 levels in *E. coli*-induced peritonitis [54]. The mechanism by which PKR regulates inflammasome activation remains to be elucidated. Further, caspase-11 and caspase-1 double knockout mice also significantly reduced serum HMGB1 during lethal endotoxemia [55], yet, the question of where the primary source of circulating HMGB1 remains still.

In LPS-induced endotoxemia, deletion of *Hmgb1* in hepatocytes significantly improved survival and markedly reduced plasma HMGB1, while myeloid- or endothelial-specific deletion of *Hmgb1* did not affect survival rate or HMGB1 in HMGB1 [17, 53, 56]. These findings not only introduced the liver as a significant source of HMGB1 release in sepsis models but also illuminated a novel mechanism for the active release of HMGB1 from hepatocytes relevant to sepsis lethality. Previous reports indicated that the major consequence of LPS-induced activation of caspase-11 in macrophages or endothelial cells is pyroptosis, which is thought to contribute to the release of local proinflammatory molecules such as

HMGB1 [56, 57]. In contrast to previous reports, caspase-11-driven activation of this pathway in hepatocytes in coordination with TLR4 interaction resulted in HMGB1 nucleocytoplasmic translocation and exosome-dependent active release [17, 56]. Caspase-11 and caspase-1 activation and consequent Gasdermin D (GsdmD) cleavage can regulate HMGB1 active release from hepatocytes. Consequent cleavage of GsdmD promotes increases in free calcium in the cell, camkkβ activation, and translocation of nuclear HMGB1 to the cytoplasm, which is followed by the release of HMGB1 in exosomes [56]. Of interest, additional studies have also shown that complement component 5a receptor 2 (C5aR2) deficiency restricted NLR family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome activation and HMGB1 release in macrophages or murine renal injury model [58]. C5aR2 deficient mice exhibited reduced levels of Caspase 1 activity and renal HMGB1, supporting the argument that a C5a/C5aR2 interaction mediates HMGB1 upregulation after stimulation in macrophages or *in vivo* in damaged renal tissue [58]. Altogether, pharmacological inhibition or genetic manipulation of inflammasome signaling cascade can attenuate HMGB1 release; however, it is still difficult to distinguish between inflammasome-mediated active or passive release.

#### 1.4.2 Apoptosis

Unlike pyroptosis, apoptosis-driven HMGB1 release is regulated by caspase 3/7, as previous studies using a broad-spectrum caspase inhibitor (Z-VAD-FMK) reported reduced HMGB1 release in macrophages and improved survival rate in experimental sepsis [59]. Of note, the inhibitor used in this study also inhibits caspase-11/caspase-1, which can affect the pyroptosis-mediated HMGB1 release. Whether cleavage of other caspases is related to apoptosis-driven HMGB1 release remains unknown. A possible mechanism could be the release of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) from apoptotic cells that can activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in immune cells and the subsequent release of apoptosis, PTMs

on HMGB1 result in its increased adherence to chromatin and, apoptotic-induced release happens during the late stage [61], which may occur when the removal of apoptotic bodies is inadequate [31].

Consequently, HMGB1-containing nucleosomes can induce the production of TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  in addition to dendritic cell maturation [31]. It has also been shown that apoptotic cells release HMGB1-containing microparticles, the small membrane-bound vesicles released from cells during cell death [62, 63]. These microparticles remain suspended in biological fluids and can exert proinflammatory and prothrombotic effects, as well as being markers of microvascular dysfunction [62, 63].

#### 1.4.3 Necrosis and Necroptosis

Necrosis is a form of cell death caused by loss of membrane integrity and distinguishes itself from apoptosis by its pro-inflammatory effects, and it was well established that necrotic or damaged cells release HMGB1 [7]. Recent advances revealed that necrosis induced by TNF or type 1 or type 2 IFN is a highly regulated programmed cell death termed necroptosis [60]. It has been shown that Receptorinteracting serine-threonine kinase (RIPK) family members (RIPK1 and RIPK3) and mixed-lineage kinase domain-like pseudokinase (MLKL) are key promoters of necroptosis [64, 65]. Studies in RIPK3 knockout mice demonstrated a decrease in necroptosis driven by HMGB1 reduction [66] as well as reduced release of HMGB1 from macrophages and retinal pigment epithelium after poly(I:C) insult [66, 67]. Stimulation of macrophages with IFN significantly induced the formation of RIP3-RIP1 via the JAK/STAT1 pathway [60] and mitochondria-derived ROS [68]. It is noteworthy that pyroptosis-derived released HMGB1 is hyperacetylated at the NLS sites while the freeze-thaw-induced necrotic HMGB1 is hypoacetylated [10, 69]. Given the seminal role of HMGB1 acetylation in its nucleocytoplasmic translocation, these findings implicate a potential different PTM upon activation of different inflammasomes. NLRP3 activation results in the release of disulfide

HMGB1, while NLRC4 inflammasome activation results in the release of all-thiol HMGB1 [10]. It is yet to be investigated whether necroptosis-induced HMGB1 contains the disulfide bond between Cys23-Cys45.

Autophagy is a conserved intracellular degradation system that regulates the degradation of cellular material by forming specific membrane structures such as phagophores, autophagosomes, or auto-lysosomes driven by autophagyrelated (ATG) proteins. Studies have also shown that after excessive activation of the autophagic molecular machinery, autophagy-induced cell death results in HMGB1 passive release [3]. Genetic deletion of ATG proteins such as ATG5, ATG7, and ATG12 indicated marked extracellular HMGB1 release during necrosis or ferroptosis [70, 71]. In addition, bone marrow-derived macrophages or fibroblasts deficient in ATG5 displayed reduced HMGB1 release under starvation conditions [71]. More in-depth recent investigations have shown that HMGB1 secretion could also be regulated by heat shock protein 90 alpha family class A member 1 (HSP90AA1), a Golgi reassembly stacking protein 2 (GORASP2)mediated autophagy-based secretion machinery, and the multivesicular body formation [72].

#### 1.4.4 Other Modes of Cell Death

Lysosome-dependent cell death (LDC) is a form of cell death mainly mediated by lysosomal enzymes such as cathepsins. Substantial release of enzymes after complete lysosomal permeabilization prompts necrotic cell death, whereas partial permeabilization with the release of lower levels of enzymes leads to apoptotic cell death [73]. Inhibition of cathepsin B and consequent inhibition of LDC results in reduced HMGB1 release in both macrophages [74] and endothelial cells [75]. Moreover, translocation of cathepsin B from the lysosome to the nucleus can induce DNA damage and subsequent release of HMGB1 for ferroptosis induction [3]. Cathepsin D has also been shown to be involved in necroptosis-mediated HMGB1 release in immune cells [76].

Alkaliptosis is a recently reported mode of pH-dependent regulated cell death derived from intracellular alkalization [77]. During this mode of cell death, HMGB1 translocates from the nucleus to the cytoplasm and results in the consequent passive release [77]. The alkaliptosis-driven extracellular HMGB1 induces macrophage activation through a stimulator of interferon response cGAMP interactor 1 (STING1) pathway that is dependent on the interaction with advanced glycosylation end product-specific receptor (AGER) [78].

#### 1.4.5 NETosis and Activated Platelets

NETosis is a form of regulated cell death in response to proinflammatory stimuli, which drives the release of neutrophil DNA and DNA-binding proteins (including HMGB1), resulting in the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) [79]. HMGB1 was first observed to colocalize with NETs in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), wherein it was discovered to form complexes with DNA and nucleosomes [4]. Further studies reported that the deoxyribonucleases (DNase)-mediated degradation of NETs could significantly increase the release of HMGB1 during neutrophil activation [80]. Additionally, DNase inhibitors limit HMGB1 release during cell death, indicating its regulatory role in HMGB1 passive release during neutrophils contribute to further NETosis induction, induces platelet activation, and triggers immunothrombosis [79, 80]. Altogether, the crosstalk between NETosis and activated platelets from a vicious cycle indicates the critical role of HMGB1 in mediating the unfavorable effects exerted by this cycle.

As mentioned, platelet-derived HMGB1 serves as another major source of HMGB1; however, detecting HMGB1 in anucleate platelets in intriguing, whereas it is an abundant "nuclear" protein [82]. It was reported that HMGB1 is localized in the cytoplasm of resting platelets and upon activation, it is translocated to the cell membrane, and gets released [82]. Further, it was demonstrated that vascular injury induces extensive extracellular HMGB1 release from platelets, exhibiting a

seminal role in immunothrombosis response and neutrophil activation [83, 84]. So far, a single study has reported that platelet-derived disulfide HMGB1 a central mediator of thrombosis [84]; however, further studies are needed to investigate the PTMs and redox isoforms of platelet-derived extracellular HMGB1 and its acetylation/phosphorylation status.

### 1.5 HMGB1 Receptor Interactions and Functions

Depending on the localization and PTM status, HMGB1 can exert different biological functions. Subcellular localization, redox status, and molecular binding partners contribute to HMGB1 or physiological functions and receptor interactions.

### 1.5.1 Nuclear HMGB1

Nuclear HMGB1 always appears to be in fully reduced form with no chemokine or cytokine activity. Earlier studies on HMGB1 biochemistry have shown that nuclear HMGB1 can interact with RNA or bind to DNA groves and induce a significant change in DNA structure [85]. The inherent capacity of HMGB1 for changing DNA structures allows it to contribute to various DNA-relevant biological functions such as DNA stability, gene transcription, and downstream targets.

The role of HMGB1 in DNA damage and repair was first reported in studies that discovered the ability of HMGB1 to bind to a variety of bulky DNA lesions induced by chemotherapeutic agents and environmental carcinogens [86, 87]. Other cellular and genetics studies also demonstrated that mammalian HMGB1 and its yeast homologue are critical for sustaining genome stability [88]. Additionally, cell biology and biochemical studies indicated that HMGB1 is an essential regulator of major DNA repair pathways, such as nucleotide excision repair (NER) [89, 90] and base excision repair (BER) [91]. Additionally, it was

reported that HMGB1 is involved in modulating nonhomologous end joining and V(D)J recombination via its interaction with crucial repair proteins in these pathways [92, 93]. Besides, genetic deletion of *Hmgb1* in mouse embryonic fibroblasts exhibited chromosomal abnormalities, and a moderate shortening of telomere length, indicating its role in modulating the cellular activity of telomerase and maintaining telomere integrity [94]. The linkage between HMGB1 and preservation of genome stability further emphasizes the importance of understanding the roles of HMGB1 and its potential effects on human disease development.

It is also worthy of mentioning that recent studies in liver tumorigenesis showed that nuclear HMGB1 could also bind to GA-binding protein alpha (GABP $\alpha$ ), promoting the expression of the yes-associated protein (YAP), a major downstream effector of the Hippo pathway by inducing hypoxia-inducible factor 1a (HIF1 $\alpha$ )-dependent aerobic glycolysis [95]. Consistent with these findings, HMGB1 knockout mouse embryonic fibroblasts exhibited a marked reduction of Hippo pathway core components and YAP target genes, such as BIRC5, CCND1, MYC, SPP1, and GPC3, independent of Wnt/-catenin and Notch pathways [95], indicating that nuclear HMGB1 could contribute to cell proliferation through regulation of YAP expression.

Other findings have also indicated that nuclear HMGB1 modulates mitochondrial respiration and morphology by helping to sustain autophagy in mitochondria maintenance through regulation of the HSPB1 gene (also known as HSP27) expression [96]. In wild-type cells, HMGB1 functions as a transcriptional regulator of HSPB1 gene expression, which is necessary to control mitophagy in response to mitochondrial injury. Deficiency in either HMGB1 or HSPB1 results in defective mitophagy and subsequent ATP production [96].

Recent developments in HMGB1 binding proteome-wide mapping using simplified Cross-Linking, Immuno-Precipitation, and functional tests have shown that it is also a *bona fide* RNA-binding Protein (RBP) that binds to hundreds of

mRNA, presenting an interactome influencing the availability of senescencerelevant mRNAs [97]. These studies carried out in primary endothelial and lung fibroblast cells showed that HMGB1 controls the expression of genes central to the senescent program and influences the availability of senescence-relevant mRNAs [97]. Such novel findings divulge broader than hitherto assumed functions of HMGB1 modulating gene expression, splicing, and translation, which are relevant in many pathological conditions. More studies are essential to specify which DNA/RNA sequences are bound with HMGB1 and their physiological relevance.

#### 1.5.2 Cytoplasmic HMGB1

Several studies have shown that cytoplasmic HMGB1 is an influential contributing factor to autophagy. Cytoplasmic HMGB1 directly binds to the autophagy protein Beclin1 and controls the Beclin1–Bcl2 complex formation, an important molecular event observed during autophagy [98]. The dissociation of Bcl2 from Beclin1 results in limited apoptosis, and autophagy activation in response to starvation, and potentially other physiological stimuli. This cytoplasmic HMGB1 is regulated by Cys106 oxidation as higher given HMGB1 levels are promoted after mutating Cys106 [98, 99]. It was further suggested that HMGB1 may also contribute to Bcl2 phosphorylation by the ERK/MAPK pathway because inhibition of HMGB1 reduces starvation-induced phosphorylation of both ERK1/2 and Bcl2 [98, 99], although the mechanism is still not clear.

It was shown that HMGB1 could also form a complex with p53 that controls the balance between tumor cell death, and survival [100]. The p53 and relevant molecular pathways are the most mutated in human cancers, regulating autophagy, apoptosis, and metabolism [101]. In a p53 deficient human colon cancer cell line (HCT116), cytosolic HMGB1, and associated autophagy are increased in response to stress. On the contrary, HMGB1 deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts exhibit increased cytosolic p53 and decreased autophagy in response to stress [100]. More recently, it was shown that hepatocytes derived

from p53 deficient mice or p53-silenced HepG2 cells express elevated cytoplasmic HMGB1 with no significant change in the total level [101]. Further studies reported that HMGB1 knockdown offset the alleviating effect of p53 silencing on hepatic steatosis by regulating the autophagy pathway.

Additionally, other studies utilizing intestinal epithelial cells or colitis mouse models revealed that cytosolic HMGB1 regulates apoptosis by protecting the Beclin1 and ATG5 from calpain-mediated cleavage during inflammation allowing autophagy to proceed [102]. Calpains are intracellular cysteine proteases ubiquitously expressed and play roles in apoptotic pathways [103]. In the absence of HMGB1, Beclin1 and ATG5 are cleaved by calpain, generating protein fragments that localize to the mitochondria and trigger cell death.

#### 1.5.3 Extracellular HMGB1

Compared to the cytoplasmic form, the extracellular HMGB1 is among the most studied aspects of its biological role due to its numerous immune functions. The extracellular HMGB1 was first reported to be a late mediator of lethal endotoxemia since, unlike most cytokines, it is secreted in a delayed manner and sustains a high circulatory level after the onset of sepsis [44, 59]. Among the reported receptors that interact with HMGB1, RAGE, and TLRs are among the most extensively explored.

The biological function and subsequent cytokine-like activity of extracellular HMGB1 is driven by its redox status and its binding partners; however, due to its relatively higher affinity to TLR4 (K<sub>D</sub>: 22 nM) [104], and lower affinity to RAGE (97.7 nM) [105], it can be speculated that HMGB1 might first interact with TLR4 when actively released by immune cells in lower amounts. Consequently, it can activate endothelial cells, dendritic cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cell maturation to release various chemokines and cytokines, orchestrating the inflammatory response and a potential positive feedback loop [106-110].

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis have shown that the fully reduced (also known as the all-thiol-HMGB1) form of HMGB1 with all three cysteines in the thiol state exerts chemo-attractive effects by forming a heterocomplex with CXCL12 (also known as stromal cell-derived factor 1, SDF-1) which binds to CXCR4 inducing cell migration through a RAGE-dependent mechanism [108, 111]. It is worth mentioning that all-thiol HMGB1 is the only studied HMGB1 isoform for its half-life ranging from 17 minutes (in human serum and saliva) to 3 hours (in prostate cancer cell culture medium) [112].

Mild HMGB1 oxidation results in the disulfide bond formation between Cys23 and Cys45 which turns this isoform to a potent proinflammatory cytokine that does not activate CXCR4 pathway but has high affinity for MD2 in the TLR4 complex [104, 113].

Notably, cytosol and the nucleus have a strongly negative (reducing) redox potential, with the intracellular HMGB1 being mostly in the reduced state. Conversely, the extracellular environment is oxidizing in normal condition, and even more so throughout inflammation, which favors the formation of the disulfide HMGB1 [114].

Although reduced and disulfide HMGB1 has been shown to have chemotactic and proinflammatory activity, ROS- dependent oxidation of HMGB1 at Cys-106 (partial oxidation) abrogates its immunostimulatory activity and contributes to apoptotic cell-mediated immunotolerance through still unidentified processes [115].

While the interplay between fully reduced HMGB1 and disulfide HMGB1 is a reversible process dependent on the redox state of the intra- and extracellular environment, further oxidation of HMGB1 results in an irreversible sulfonyl HMGB1 [116]. Although early studies on HMGB1 biology reported that sulfonyl HMGB1 is devoid of chemotactic and cytokine activities, recent studies in tumor biology have

shown that sulfonyl HMGB1 can recruit immunosuppressive cells through a RAGEdependent mechanism [117].

These opposite roles displayed by mutually exclusive forms of HMGB1 likely explain the paradoxical results collected over the years in various studies investigating inflammatory conditions. Moreover, pathology-driven increase of systemic HMGB1 prevails for a long period of time due to still unknown reasons with the major cellular sources of HMGB1 not yet identified [118]. In addition, the redox form of these long-lasting elevated systemic HMGB1 levels is also unknown.

#### 1.5.4 HMGB1-RAGE Axis

RAGE was the first reported receptor for HMGB1 [119], and the HMGB1-RAGE axis participates in various disorders such as sepsis, tumorigenesis, metabolic disorders, and vascular dysfunction. The main RAGE binding domain of HMGB1 is located on amino acids 150-183, while a recent report also indicated another potential RAGE binding domain at residues 23-50 in the A box [120]. HMGB1 interaction with RAGE results in invasive migration and growth of tumor cells through the activation of p38 MAPK and Erk1/2 [16, 121]. HMGB1 binding can also induce phosphorylation of the RAGE cytoplasmic domain and interact with TIRAP and MyD88, transducing a signal to downstream molecules [122]. In addition, HMGB1 ligation with RAGE promotes phosphorylation of mitochondrial complex I activity, the first step in the ATP biosynthetic pathway. After that, the HMGB1-RAGE axis enhances ATP production in a p-ERK1/2-dependent process to sustain the increased metabolic needs and growth of tumor cells [123]. RAGE also provides a functional platform for crosstalk with other potential HMGB1 receptors that exist in the intracellular space. As briefly mentioned before, HMGB1 was reported to be a component of a DNA-containing immune complex that stimulates cytokine production [124]. HMGB1-RAGE axis has also been reported to contribute to macrophage polarization in various pathologies. Early studies

showed that macrophages from RAGE deficient rats exhibited a marked decrease in TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 through a MAPK-JNK-NF $\kappa$ B dependent pathway [107].

HMGB1 binding to RAGE on the cell surface results in its internalization into the cytosol and augmenting type 1 IFN production through a mechanism dependent on TLR9-MyD88 and consequent proinflammatory macrophage (M1) polarization [125]. Further studies showed that inhibition of extracellular HMGB1 significantly abolished the release of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, TNF $\alpha$ , and MCP-1 in stimulated macrophages. In studies focused on kidney tissue injury utilizing human proximal tubule cells and bone marrow-derived macrophages, HMGB1 release resulted in significant upregulation of M1 macrophage markers while decreasing M2 macrophage marker IL-10, and consequently, HMGB1 inhibition markedly reduced kidney injury and renal fibrosis [126]. These studies did not provide any evidence on whether RAGE pathway is driving these polarizations or not. Contrary to HMGB1-RAGE axis driven inflammatory polarization of macrophages, a few studies have reported that HMGB1 can induce anti-inflammatory M2 polarization as well, while it is unclear how it can elicit both pro- and anti-inflammation responses [127, 128]. Recently, it was reported that the first component of the complement system, C1q, interacts with HMGB1 and catalyzes formation of a multimeric protein complex comprising HMGB1, C1q, RAGE and the C1q receptor, Leukocyte-Associated Ig-like Receptor-1 (LAIR-1; CD305) [127, 129]. Formation of such complex triggers monocytes to polarize to the anti-inflammatory (M2-like) phenotype, upregulating the expression of CD163 and several anti-inflammatory molecules, including Programmed Death-Ligand 1 (PD-L1), Mer tyrosine kinase (Mer), and IL-10, blocking the downstream adaptive immune response. These reported observations reveal that the HMGB1-RAGE axis could not only facilitate inflammation but also rectify inflammation. Thus, further studies should focus on investigating the immune homeostasis maintaining the role of RAGE in diverse microenvironments.

Other studies have also reported that the integrity of RAGE is crucial for NETosis in response to activated platelets release of HMGB1 [130]. The HMGB1-
RAGE axis also could take part in hypoxia-induced organ damage. Hypoxia induces HMGB1 interaction with RAGE and activates several downstream pathways, including NFkB, hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), ERK1/2, and Akt signaling [131-133]. It also been shown that HMGB1-RAGE axis contributes to vascular perturbation in hypoxia, and vascular dysfunction may amplify hypoxic HMGB1-RAGE mediated organ damages [131]. Thus, this axis may serve as a crucial regulator of inflammatory response triggered by hypoxia.

## 1.5.5 HMGB1 and TLRs Axis

TLRs are a family of pattern recognition receptors that play crucial roles in the host's immune response. TLR 2, 4 and, 9 have been identified to interact with HMGB1. HMGB1 interaction with TLR2 promotes maturation and activation of natural killer cells by promoting NFκB, STAT3, and SMAD3 signaling [134, 135] although it is not clear whether HMGB1 and TLR2 interaction is direct or via complex formation with potential TLR2 ligands such as HSP70 or HSP90. TLR9 interaction with HMGB1 has been reported to be dependent on forming a complex with Its ligand, such as class A CpG–containing oligodeoxynucleotides [124]. This complex formation results in activated dendritic cells and augmentation of IFNα production through a mechanism dependent on MyD88–TLR9, and RAGE [124].

The role of the HMGB1-TLR4 axis in inflammation and immune regulation has been demonstrated in various pathological conditions such as aortic aneurysms, atherosclerosis, and liver/lung damage, and its clinical relevance is underscored by diminished interaction with human TLR4 mutation [136]. The TLR4-driven proinflammatory functionality of HMGB1 is mapped to the amino acid residues 89 to 108 located on the B box domain [137]. Surface plasmon resonance (SPR) studies show that the HMGB1-mediated cytokine/chemokine production requires the disulfide HMGB1 that exclusively interacts with extracellular TLR4 adaptor, myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2), which induces the downstream signaling [113]. HMGB1 Cys106 is crucial for recognizing and binding to the TLR4 co-receptor MD-2 as macrophages deficient in MD-2 demonstrate a dramatically reduced HMGB1-mediated TNFα release after stimulation with disulfide HMGB1 [113]. Further studies demonstrated that the HMGB1/TLR4/MD2 interaction is initiated by HMGB1-TLR4 binding via the A-box domain and, once in proximity, the HMGB1 B-box domain binds to MD-2, activating the TLR4 signaling through inducing TLR4/MD-2 dimerization [138].

## 1.6 HMGB1 and Vascular Disease

## 1.6.1 HMGB1 and Atherosclerosis

Atherosclerosis pathogenies are mainly characterized by a chronic inflammatory response in the arterial wall after injury. In general, the pathology development process incorporates vascular endothelial layer injury and monocyte adhesion, formation of foam cells, SMCs migration/proliferation from media to the intima, and consequent formation of the atherosclerotic plaque [139].

Clinical studies on patients with internal carotid artery stenosis (ICAS) [140] or with coronary artery disease [141] have shown a dramatic increase in the serum HMGB1 level. It was first suggested that HMGB1 might contribute to the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis through release by necrosis of a variety of cell types, including endothelial cells, and promoting the migration of rat SMCs [142]. Early on, SMCs were considered as an unlikely source of HMGB1 given their less HMGB1 abundance compared to other cell types in culture conditions [142]. However, additional studies showed that SMCs challenged with cholesterol generate a more significant HMGB1 amounts and secrete it [143]. Additionally, HMGB1 stimulation can induce SMCs migration, proliferation, and further HMGB1 release maintaining an autocrine loop that can contribute to downstream pathology development [143].

Apart from marked expression of RAGE in human atherosclerosis plaque [144, 145], the first study looking at the direct role of HMGB1 in atherosclerosis reported significant abundance in human atherosclerotic lesions [146]. HMGB1 was reported to be mostly expressed in the SMC layer of normal intima localized adjacent to the endothelium, as well as in microvessels within adventitia. HMGB1 expression was markedly increased in atherosclerosis, mostly associated with macrophages. In vitro studies utilizing THP-1 cells further reported that TNF, TGF- $\beta$ 1 or IFN- $\gamma$  stimulation resulted in the HMGB1 upregulation and its secretion which was dependent on protein kinase C, and PI-3 kinase [146]. Later, studies in apolipoprotein E-deficient (ApoE -/-) mice also showed that HMGB1 was expressed within the aortic sinus and in cells within the atherosclerotic intima [146]. Reports indicated that the quantity of macrophages with the nuclear and cytoplasmic expression of HMGB1 is increased in lesions of thoracic and abdominal aorta samples. Immunohistochemistry analysis indicated that HMGB1 appeared to be in the cytoplasmic area and diffusely distributed within the lesion, reflecting potential secreted HMGB1 [146]. Atherosclerosis development was also attenuated after treatment with a neutralizing antibody against HMGB1, accompanied by a marked reduction in dendritic cell accumulation and dendritic cell maturation.

Vascular endothelial cells are responsible for sensing the shear stress exerted by blood flow on the vessel walls to commence a cascade of intracellular signaling and functional responses [147]. In particular, laminar shear stress (LSS) is the frictional force of blood flow acting on vascular endothelial cells and is essential for regulating normal physiological functions of blood vessels [147]. To further understand the role of HMGB1 in atherosclerosis development, a recent whole transcriptome sequencing on human aortic endothelial cells revealed that erythropoietin-producing hepatocyte receptor B2 (EPHB2) mediates the HMGB1 nucleocytoplasmic translocation by LSS and leads to autophagy. Further research discovered that the anti-inflammatory effect of LSS depends on autophagy activation due to nucleocytoplasmic HMGB1 translocation via the long non-coding

RNA (IncRNA) LOC107986345 and miR-128-3p/EPHB2 axis implying a potential role in atherosclerosis pathophysiology [148]. Endothelial dysfunction due to increased endothelial permeability is also a common prelude to atherosclerosis and other vascular disease development. Oxidative stress and inflammation are among the contributing factors to endothelial hyperpermeability that can be modulated by Angiotensin II (AngII). It is a well-known vasoconstrictor in the reninangiotensin system with various functional effects on endothelial cells, such as excessive oxidative stress, vascular inflammation, and thrombosis. AnglI biological functions are mainly mediated through the AnglI type 1 receptor (AT1R), and few studies have suggested a potential link between AT1R and RAGE in VSMCs since AT1R stimulation by AngII increases RAGE expression in diabetic atherosclerosis [149, 150]. In vitro studies have shown that AnglI-treated human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) expressed drastically higher HMGB1 in an NFkBdependent manner, while the neutralization of secreted HMGB1 significantly attenuated Angll-induced endothelial hyperpermeability via Src/β-catenin/VEcadherin/mDia1 pathway [150].

In a cellular model of foam cell formation, primary VSMCs isolated from walls of femoral artery tissues from healthy organ donors were challenged with LPS or ATP [151]. Treatment with both LPS and ATP (not LPS or ATP alone) significantly reduced the levels of total and nuclear HMGB1 but significantly increased the cytoplasmic HMGB1 [151]. The level of HMGB1 in the supernatants of cultured cell were dramatically decreased after treatment with NLRP3 or caspase inhibition. Further results indicated that NLRP3 inflammasome activation and HMGB1 release fostered the cholesterol accumulation in VSMCs and inhibited the cholesterol efflux in these cells by downregulating LXRa and ATP-binding cassette transporter (ABCA1) expression through RAGE [151]. To further understand the role of HMGB1 in atherosclerosis formation, ApoE-/- mice were injected intraperitoneally with LPS and/or fed with HFD. Interestingly, injection with LPS alone induced mild or moderate levels of arterial plaque formation while, LPS

and HFD promoted severe atherosclerotic plaque formation in mice which was attenuated by HMGB1 inhibition [151].

Previously mentioned studies mainly investigate the role of HMGB1 in advanced atherosclerosis without reporting any distinction between intracellular and extracellular HMGB1. However, a recent study looked at the role of HMGB1 in early atherosclerosis development, a stage in which transcytosis of LDL is critical [152]. Transcytosis across the endothelium is carried out by the SR-BI scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-BI) receptor and contributes to atherosclerosis development. The report indicated that nuclear HMGB1 enhances the stability of sterol regulatory element-binding protein 2 (SREBP 2), and promotes LDL transcytosis in primary human coronary artery endothelial cells. Moreover, endothelial-specific HMGB1deficieny in LDL receptor knock-out male mice resulted in a significant lower fatty streak development and protection from atherosclerosis [152].

Given the seminal role of cholesterol homeostasis in atherosclerosis development, other studies have also looked at the association between statin therapy and HMGB1 biology. In a study utilizing simvastatin, ApoE -/- mice exhibited decreased aortic expression of HMGB1, RAGE, and consequent pathology development in response to statin therapy. *In vitro*, HMGB1 challenged HUVECs exhibited marked expression of HMGB1 itself and RAGE, while pretreatment with simvastatin abolished such effect [153].

## 1.6.2 HMGB1 and Vascular Remodeling

Recently, an inducible HMGB1 -/- mouse strain where the *Hmgb1* gene was deleted after tamoxifen treatment was generated to test the HMGB1 contribution in injury-induced intimal hyperplasia (IH) and vascular remodeling [154]. Reports indicated striking prevention of inward IH and vascular remodeling observed in the injured carotid arteries of HMGB1-/- mice. Further, C57BI/6 wild-type mice treated

with neutralizing HMGB1 antibody also conferred a 50% reduction in IH 28 days after injury.

Notably, histological analysis revealed that HMGB1 and its receptor TLR4 colocalized in the adventitia layer only at early-stage day three but not on day 28, accompanied by adventitial infiltration of CD68+ macrophage on day three [154]. The macrophage accumulation was reduced with either anti-HMBG1 antibody treatment or TLR4 genetic deficiency. *In vitro* studies to confirm the inflammatory role of disulfide HMGB1 showed that peritoneal macrophages challenged with recombinant disulfide HMGB1 released MCP-1, IL-6 and TNFα via a TLR4-dependant pathway [154]. HMGB1 is also reported to be a potent regulator of balloon injury-induced neointimal hyperplasia. It was shown that HMGB1 expression was elevated during Ang II-induced VSMC proliferation, serum-induced VSMC dedifferentiated phenotype transition via deactivation of p38 MAPK/NF-kB and Notch signaling pathway. Further, glycyrrhizin (an HMGB1 inhibitor) treatment suppressed HMGB1 expression, which was accompanied by blunted inflammation and oxidative stress after seven days of balloon injury with significantly decreased neointimal hyperplasia [155].

#### 1.6.3 HMGB1 and Aortic Aneurysms

Aortic aneurysms are progressive weakening of the aortic wall that results in pathological aortic dilation, and consequently aortic dissection [156, 157]. Depending on the regionality of the involved aortic portion, it can be named either abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) or thoracic aortic aneurysm (TAA) [158, 159]. During disease development, aortic wall components undergo dynamic changes in response to injury, stress or remodeling and dysregulation with aortic wall inflammation, aortic SMC depletion, and disruption of the extracellular matrix among the hallmarks of aortic aneurysm development [158]. Our research group previously reported the protective effect of HMGB1 receptor, TLR4, deficiency in AnglI-induced AAA [160], while other groups also reported the protective role of RAGE deficiency in the same experimental model [161]. The latter implied a role for a potential ligand that can act through both receptors to induce the AAA development.

The first study to directly investigate the role of HMGB1 in AAA development reported that on human aneurysmal tissue, HMGB1 expression was enhanced in all layers of the AAA aortic wall, but mostly in the media and adventitia [162]. Further, serum HMGB1 level was markedly increased in patients with ruptured AAA compared to none-ruptured AAA [162]. In a mouse CaCl<sub>2</sub>-induced AAA model, HMGB1 abundance was augmented compared to control and this increase was positively correlated with matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and MMP-9 activity. Additionally, neutralizing HMGB1 antibody attenuated AAA formation, and decreased elastin fragmentation [162].

Further experimental studies utilizing the CaCl<sub>2</sub>-induced AAA model showed that the protein abundance of HMGB1 ligand, TLR4, is markedly increased in aortic tissue starting at day 3 [163]. Due to the localization of TLR4 abundance in the aortic medial layer, *in vitro* studies focused on the effect of HMGB1-derived TLR4 stimulation in VSMCs. TLR4 expression was increased after stimulation with recombinant HMGB1 stimulation in a dose-dependent manner suggesting a positive feedback loop, although there was no indication of HMGB1 isotype. HMGB1-induced increase in TLR4 activation was accompanied by enhanced IL-6 and MCP-1 production, while TLR4 silencing significantly reduced this effect [163]. Additional reports showed that aortic tissue from male AAA patients exhibited a marked increase in HMGB1 protein abundance similar to elastase-perfused aortic tissue of experimental AAA. As expected, treatment with anti-HMGB1 antibody attenuated AAA formation and cytokine production in an NADPH-oxidase-dependent manner [164].

Given the reported association between lung pathology and exacerbated AAA, a recent study addressed cross-talk between the diseased lung and abdominal aorta [165]. It was first shown that the aneurysmal tissue from the

human aortic specimen exhibited marked increase in HMGB1 abundance, mostly in the aortic adventitia and endothelial layers with least expression observed in the medial layer. Moreover, aortic tissue from AngII-infused mice also showed increase HMGB1 abundance that was associated with increased TLR4 expression [165]. Further experiments indicated that LPS-induced lung injury exacerbates the AAA development, and this effect was abrogated after deletion of receptorinteracting serine/threonine-protein kinase3 (RIPK3). These results indicated that discharge of HMGB1 from a distal organ, lung, contributed to the mitochondrial metabolism of macrophages residing in the abdominal aorta by activating RIP3K [165]. Such increase of RIP3K and mitochondrial fission is regulated by the phosphorylation of dynamin-related protein-1 (DRP1) and consequent increase of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and induction of MMP12 expression in macrophages and final proteolytic damage [165]. These results establish an important inter-organ circuitry role of HMGB1 that contributes to macrophage activation and regulation of remodeling.

## 1.6.4 Blood pressure and Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension

As mentioned before, endothelial dysfunction is a critical event in cardiovascular disease, including pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) [166]. It is characterized by small pulmonary artery remodeling that leads to increased pulmonary vascular resistance with vasoconstriction proliferation of smooth muscle, inflammation and endothelial dysfunction being the major contributor to the pathophysiology of PAH [167]. HIMF (hypoxia-induced mitogenic factor; also known as FIZZ1 [found in inflammatory zone-1] is known to be an etiological factor of PAH in rodents [168]. It was recently shown that HIMF triggers HMGB1 activation in pulmonary endothelial cells (ECs) of hypoxic mouse lungs and human pulmonary microvascular ECs [168]. This axis mediated the EC-SMC crosstalk, whereas EC-derived HMGB1 favors the hyperproliferative phenotype of SMCs by regulating autophagy that synergistically sponsors PAH pathogenesis. Additional

studies reported that hypoxic conditions increased cytoplasmic HMGB1expression in HUVECs and further released to supernatant [169]. To further explore the biological role of HMGB1 *in vivo*, endothelial-specific HMGB1 deficient mice were utilized to assess such deficiency effects on blood pressure [169]. Results showed that HMGB1 deletion lowered NO production and impaired endothelial function, resulting in increased diastolic and systolic blood pressure accompanied by retarded blood flow recovery post-ischemic hind limb injury in mice.

Early works on HMGB1 and PAH demonstrated that HMGB1 increase preceded TNFα and MCP1 elevation in male Sprague-Dawley rats that were administered monocrotaline (MCT) to induce PAH. Further, Anti-HMGB1 neutralizing antibody treatment protected animals against MCT-induced lung inflammation, thickening of the pulmonary artery wall, and improved overall survival [170, 171] potentially through a TLR4-driven pathway. In addition, recent clinical studies have shown that serum HMGB1 level was markedly increased in PAH patients compared to healthy controls, and the high HMGB1 serum level was controlled by 6-month sildenafil treatment [172].

Of note, a series of studies recently have looked at the role of the sexspecific response of HMGB1 release within the context of PAH, given the poor survival rate of male PAH patients compared to females. *In vitro*, it was first reported that isolated pulmonary endothelial cells exhibit sexual dimorphism in the form of cell death, with lung cells isolated from female mice showing a strong hypoxia-induced apoptotic response while cells from male mice exhibited necrosis. The elevated necrosis was associated with a significant release of HMGB1, while no stimuli induced a marked increase in HMGB1 secretion of females [173]. These findings are in accordance with translational data reporting a significant in plasma HMGB1 of male PAH compared to female patients [174]. Moreover, results showed that HMGB1 is released by both pulmonary artery human endothelial cells or human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells after necrosis [175]. However, it was reported that only pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells can release HMGB1 after apoptosis and activate TLR4 pathway [175]. It was further shown that

attenuation of necrosis but not apoptosis or necroptosis resulted in less TLR4 activation in males and abolished the sexual dimorphism in PAH severity [175] which led to the conclusion that necrosis induced release of HMGB1 predisposes males to a progressive form of PAH. Apart from PAH, the sex-specific response of HMGB1 release was also recently reported in the a spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) model [176]. I/R-induced renal injury in SHRs resulted in greater renal HMGB1 release only in males accompanied by a marked increase in serum TNF $\alpha$  and renal IL-1 $\beta$ , which was abolished by anti-HMGB1 neutralizing antibody treatment [176].

Given the significant role of sex in other vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and aortic aneurysms, and considering the recently reported sexspecific HMGB1 release response [177], it is pivotal to consider the sex effect in HMGB1-driven vascular pathology. Nonetheless, more detailed studies are warranted to explore the exact isoforms of released HMGB1 from male versus female-driven primary cells under various cell death conditions.

		Function		
Acetylation	ADP-ribosylation and Oxidation	Phosphorelation	Passive Release	Potential Release Activators
Crm1	Parp1	Pi3ka	Eif2ak2	Tnf1
Kap-q1	Mapk	Pkca	Nlrp3	II-1b
Ċbp	Erk1	Camk4	Gsḋmd	Nfkb
P300	Erk2		C51r2	116
Pcaf	Mek1		Ripk1	Tlr4
Hdac1	Mek2		Ripk3	Tlr2
Hdac4	Jnk		Mlkl	Tlr9
Sirt1	Grx		NIrc4	Ager
Hsp72	Trx		Atg5	Myd88
Jak1	Prx1		Atg7	Tirap
Jak2	Prx2		Atg12	ly96
Stat1	Nfe2l2		Bcl2	
Stat3	Hmox1		P53	
Trf1			Hsp90aa1	
			Gorasp2	
			Sting1	

**Figure 1-5: Potential Genes Involved in HMGB1 Release Mechanism and Function.** HMGB1 is a molecule with various functions and biological activities that is driven by its subcellular localization and PTMs. The gene list provided here is based on the overall data discussed in this review that was reported to be involved with multiple signaling pathways in HMGB1 biology, release and post translation modifications.

## 1.7 Therapeutic Approaches

Given the substantial proinflammatory functions of HMGB1 and its involvement in several pathological conditions, different avenues have been explored to prevent HMGB1 release or its receptor binding capabilities. The first described pharmacological inhibitor of HMGB1 nucleocytoplasmic translocation was reported to be a stable aliphatic ester derived from pyruvic acid, ethyl pyruvate [178, 179]. Another well-known HMGB1 blocker is the natural compound, glycyrrhizin, which is produced by the licorice plant *Glycyrrhiza glabra* and is widely used in Asian countries to treat hepatitis [180, 181]. NMR spectroscopy studies have clearly demonstrated that glycyrrhizin directly binds (K<sub>d</sub> ~ 150 µM) to HMGB1 boxes nearby the DNA binding sites [180]. Moreover, a newly identified small peptide named P5779 has also been reported to selectively inhibit the interaction between disulfide-HMGB1 and extracellular TLR4 adaptor which was proven to be protective against a mouse model of intimal hyperplasia [113, 154]. Apart from small peptides and HMGB1 inhibitors, several studies explored the role of polyclonal and monoclonal neutralizing antibodies in various pathological conditions. Since polyclonal antibodies are not suitable for clinical applications, anti-HMGB1 monoclonal antibodies are explored in more detail. Of note, 2G7 is a well-studied anti-HMGB1 antibody that targets an epitope compromising aa 53-63 in HMGB1 A box and showed promising results is experimental model of sepsis as well as inflammatory conditions [59]. Although these studies provide essential structural and functional information about potential approaches to inhibit HMGB1, none of the druggable approaches have been tested in clinical trials yet. Also, further studies are warranted to better understand the mechanism by which different HMGB1 isoforms contribute to inflammation and downstream disease development.

## 1.8 Conclusion

Here, we provided a comprehensive overview of the HMGB1 secretion mechanism and relevant compounds in depth. Besides, we highlighted the importance of HMGB1 PTMs and the modes of its release (**Figure 5**) within the context of vascular complications. Finally, we discussed vascular diseases involving HMGB1 in detail, as well as approaches made to inhibit its secretion, receptor binding interactions, or HMGB1 extracellular activity. In conclusion, the importance of targeting HMGB1 has been extensively demonstrated in various pathologies, including vascular complications; however substantial effort is required to precision target it and better understand its mechanism of action.

## CHAPTER 2. ROLE OF HMGB1 IN ABDOMINAL AORTIC ANEURYSM DEVELOPMENT

# 2.1 Lipopolysaccharide Fails to Augment Development of Angiotensin Ilinduced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Normal and Hypercholesterolemic Mice

<u>(This section is based on a short report publication in process titled</u> <u>"Lipopolysaccharide Fails to Augment Development of Angiotensin II-induced</u> <u>Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Mice" detailing the central finding that LPS has no</u> effects on AngII-induced AAAs in normolipidemic or hypercholesteremic mice)

Abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAAs) are permanent luminal dilations of the vessel wall, with vascular inflammation as one of the hallmarks of its pathophysiology. However, it is not clear what are the sources of the inflammatory response and the mechanisms by which inflammation leads to vascular disease are not fully understood. Chronic inflammation can be mimicked by infusion of endotoxins such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which is a component of the Gramnegative bacterial wall [151, 182].

Previous studies have reported that LPS injection or infusion to hypercholesteremic mice can encourage vascular inflammation and is used as a model for inducing atherosclerosis [151, 183, 184]. Recent findings have shown that LPS alone can induce mild aortic plaque formation, while the combination of LPS challenge with high-fat diet results in severe levels of arterial plaque formation in mice [151]. However, whether LPS contributes to aortic aneurysms has not been explored. In this study, we aimed to investigate whether the presence of LPS, can exacerbate AAA development in the classic angiotensin II (AngII)-induced model.

To determine whether LPS plays a role on AngII-induced AAAs, we conducted two studies in C57BL/6J (Stock number 000664 - fed a normal laboratory diet, #2918, Envigo) and LDL receptor <sup>-/-</sup> mice (Stock number 002207-fed a western diet, TD. 88137; Envigo) infused with AngII (1,000 ng/kg/min; H-1705, Bachem; N=10) or (500 ng/kg/min; N=10), respectively. The lower dose of

AnglI in the hypercholesterolemic mice was selected to better investigate aortic pathology exacerbations without increased mortality. All experiments were performed according to protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at the University of Kentucky (Protocol number 2006-0009 or 2015-2050).

Overall, 4 groups of male C57BL/6J or LDL receptor -/- mice, 10-week-old, were infused subcutaneously with: (1) Vehicle (N=5), (2) LPS (250 μg/kg/day; N=10 - cat#. L6386, Sigma-Aldrich), (3) AngII, or (4) both AngII and LPS (N=10) through Alzet mini osmotic pumps for 28 days (Alzet model 1004 for AngII, and model 2004 for LPS, Durect).

As expected, *ex vivo* measurements of maximal outer diameters of suprarenal aortas after termination showed AngII infusion alone or with LPS led to a significant increase of abdominal aortic dilation compared to control or LPS infused mice (AngII VS. Ctrl; P=0.002, AngII VS. LPS; P=0.020, AngII-LPS VS. Ctrl; P=0.002, AngII-LPS VS. LPS; P=0.021). However, co-infusion of LPS with AngII failed to augment AngII-induced AAAs. There was also no significant difference in ascending aorta area among groups (**Figure 3-1**).

To further examine the effect of LPS in exacerbation of AngII-induced pathology, we also looked at LDL receptor <sup>-/-</sup> mice and the maximal outer diameters of suprarenal aortas in AngII or AngII-LPS groups with a lower dose of AngII. Neither *in vivo*, nor *ex vivo* measurement of suprarenal aortas detected any difference among the groups, including the AngII-LPS co-infused mice. In addition, we carried out quantification and characterization of atherosclerosis, followed by the recent AHA statement and our standard protocols [177]. LPS co-infusion failed to exacerbate atherosclerosis development in both normolipidemic and hypercholesteremic mice. Further, no difference was detected in the ascending aorta area or total plasma cholesterol among groups.

Although our results did not indicate any augmenting effect on Angliinduced vascular pathology, we observed that recurrent exposure to LPS is well tolerated with no signs or symptoms of disease, including normal appearance,

behavior, appetite, with normal body weights, and blood pressure (data not shown). However, the lack of LPS effect on aortopathies may be attributed to LPS tolerance that alters subsequent response to LPS challenge or other inflammatory stimuli. A prolonged LPS stimulation may be sufficient to induce a tolerance to LPS that can last for several weeks, although the mechanisms inhibiting the LPS response state have still not been completely elucidated.

In conclusion, LPS did not show any pathology exacerbation in Angllinfused mice. LPS is a known inducer of inflammation because of its potency for activating cells contributing to the inflammatory response and, recently it has been used as a model for inducing atherosclerosis. However, utilizing this approach alongside other stimuli such as AnglI, may induce a tolerance response that can affect the downstream signaling pathways. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study to directly explore the role of LPS in AAA development; however, future studies should take into consideration whether LPS tolerance could be a confounding factor in the pathologies being investigated.



**Figure 2-1: Effect of AnglI and LPS co-infusion on Aortic Pathology.** (A) abdominal aortic diameter and ascending aortic area in normolipidemic mice. (B) abdominal aortic dimeter, ascending aortic area, lesion area and plasma total cholesterol levels in hypercholesterolemic mice co-infused with AnglI and LPS. Data are shown as mean±SD. AnglI; Angiotensin II, LPS; lipopolysaccharide

## 2.2 Role of HMGB1 in Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm

(Parts of this section are based on a brief report publication in process titled "HMGB1 Inhibition Attenuates Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm" detailing the central finding that HMGB1 plays a central role in AngII-induced AAAs.)

HMGB1, is an alarmin that exerts biological activities both intracellularly and by stimulation of cell surface receptors. Stimulated cells can actively or passively release HMGB1 and orchestrate an inflammatory cascade that contributes to various vascular pathologies including abdominal aortic aneurysm (AAA) [165]. Currently, AAA is a leading cause of death in elderly men without any available pharmaceutical treatments which if left untreated will lead to aortic rupture. Given the asymptomatic and silent nature of AAA development, the pathophysiology of AAA remains poorly understood. Histopathology analysis of human AAAs have indicated that extracellular matrix degradation, vascular smooth muscle cells depletion and increased vascular inflammation and consequent production of various proinflammatory cytokines are among the major pathological characteristics of AAAs [185].

Human studies show that abdominal aortic tissue of aneurysmal patients have increased HMGB1 protein abundance [162, 165]. Animal studies also indicate that HMGB1 contributes to vascular inflammation, remodeling and matrix metalloprotease production, all of which contribute to AAA development [154, 164]. Previous studies have also shown that HMGB1 is released and upregulated in multiple cell types in atherosclerotic plaques including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and macrophages. In addition, in vitro studies showed that extracellular HMGB1 induces various proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages and monocytes.

Despite these profound observations, precise mechanism of HMGB1 contribution in AAA development is not clearly elucidated since studying the direct role of HMGB1 in experimental AAA models have been limited by the lethality of

whole body *Hmgb1* deletion and lack of specific inhibitors. The purpose of this study was to investigate the role of HMGB1 in angiotensin II (AngII)-induced AAA utilizing a monoclonal anti-HMGB1 antibody (2G7).

# 2.2.1 Methodology

# 2.2.1.1 Animals and Mouse Studies

Male LDLr-/- mice (Stock #002207) were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory. Mice were housed in ventilated cages with negative air pressure (Allentown Inc.), Aspen hardwood chips as bedding (#7090A, Envigo) with a 14:10 hour light:dark cycle and temperature ranging from 68 to 74' F. For Angiotensin II (AngII) studies, mice were fed a saturated fat-enriched diet (Diet # TD.88137, Harlan Teklad) one week prior to infusion with either saline or AngII (1,000 ng/kg/min) by osmotic minipumps for the study duration. All mouse experiments reported in this manuscript were performed with the approval of the University of Kentucky Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (University of Kentucky IACUC protocol number: 2006-0009).

# 2.2.1.2 Osmotic Pump Implantation

Saline or AngII (1000 ng/kg/min; H-1705 Bachem) was infused through a subcutaneously implanted osmotic pump (Alzet model 2004; Durect) into male mice at 8-12 weeks of age. Incisions were closed with surgical staples that were removed seven days after surgery. Topical anesthetic cream was applied postoperatively to alleviate the pain (4% wt/wt; LMX4, 0496-0882-15, Eloquest Healthcare, Inc).

## 2.2.1.3 Administration of HMGB1 Neutralizing Antibody

To determine the role of HMGB1 in AngII-induced AAAs, a monoclonal anti-HMGB1 antibody (2G7, mouse IgG2b, 50 µg/kg/every three days – provided by Dr. Kevin Tracey and Dr. Huan Yang at Feinstein Institute, NY) or an isotypematched control (Mouse IgG2B Isotype Control Clone 20116 – R&D Systems) were intraperitoneally injected to 8-10-week-old male LDLr-/- mice that were fed a Western diet and infused with AngII (1,000 ng/kg/day) for 28 days (n=10/each group).

## 2.2.1.4 Western Blot and Immunostaining

All tissues were homogenized using cell lysis buffer. Protein samples (5  $\mu$ g) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes. After 45 minutes of blocking, membranes were incubated with HMGB1 (Abcam, CST 3935) and  $\beta$ -actin antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, A5441) for 1 hour, respectively. Then membranes were incubated with goat anti-rabbit for 1 hour followed by anti-mouse secondary antibodies (Vector, T1101, and T10813, respectively) for 1 hour at room temperature. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad, 1705061) using a Bio-Rad ChemiDoc imager.

Aortic samples were cleaned of surrounding tissues, embedded in OCT and cryosectioned (10  $\mu$ m). Sections were stained with rabbit polyclonal to HMGB1 (abcam 18256) or rabbit IgG control. Primary antibodies were revealed using goat anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor® 568 (Invitrogen). Sections were visualized under the A1R Nikon Ti confocal microscope using a 20x water immersion objective. Z-stacked images (2k), 12-18 planes of the same region were used to produce maximum-intensity projection images.

## 2.2.1.5 Aortic Pathology Measurements

The aortic diameter was quantified by measuring maximal outer width of suprarenal aortas using Nikon software or by *in vivo* ultrasonography. The abdominal aorta was imaged *in vivo* using a Vevo 3100 ultrasound system (Visualsonic) with MS550 probe, and mice were anesthetized using isoflurane during ultrasonography, as detailed in our publications [186].

An *en face* method was used to measure atherosclerotic lesions on the intimal surface of the aorta following the American Heart Association statement [177] and as detailed in our standard protocol posted on protocols.io (dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.bfy8jpzw). In short, thoracic aortas were dissected and fixed in 10% neutrally buffered formalin overnight. The intimal surface was exposed by a longitudinal cut and pinned for quantification of intimal area and atherosclerotic lesion area in a region including ascending, arch, and 3 mm of descending aorta. Images of *en face* aortas were taken by a Nikon digital camera (Nikon digital sight DS-Ri1) with a mm ruler for calibration. Atherosclerosis was compared between groups with percent lesion area (lesion area/intimal area x 100%).

#### 2.2.1.6 Statistical Analysis

Non-omics data are represented as means ± standard error of means (SEM). SigmaPlot version 14.0 (SYSTAT Software Inc.) was used for statistical analyses. Normality and homogeneity of variance were assessed by Shapiro-Wilk tests. Two-group comparisons were performed by two-sided Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U test depending on data distribution. To compare multiple group data, one-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Sidak method was used for normally distributed variables that passed the equal variance test. One-way ANOVA on Ranks followed by Dunn's method was used for data that did not pass either

normality or equal variance test, or in the case that the sample size of any one group was under six. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

For transcriptomics analysis, JMP Genomics software version 10.2 was used for the analysis. Log2 global mean normalization was used to standardize the data. Genes were considered differentially expressed if FDR < 0.05 with a fold change threshold of 1. GSEA analysis was performed using GSEA software (version 4.2.2).

## 2.2.1.7 Retrieval and Process of RNA-seq Public Data

The microarray-based expression datasets of AAA and normal abdominal tissues were acquired from the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus GEO database. The GSE57691 dataset was comprised of full thickness abdominal aortic specimens obtained from 49 patients undergoing open surgery to treat AAA and relative aortic gene expression was compared with 10 control aortic specimens from organ donors. Control full thickness abdominal aortic samples were obtained during kidney transplant (all from heart-beating, brain-dead donors). The demographic data and full details of patient characteristics have been reported in the previous work [187]. Microarrays were performed using the Illumina HumanHT-12 V4.0 expression beadchip. The GSE17901 dataset included transcriptional profiling of suprarenal aorta from ApoE-/- mice (12-14 weeks old, C57BL/6J background) treated by subcutaneous pump with AngII or saline for 7 or 28 days [188]. Agilent-014868 Whole Mouse Genome Microarray 4x44K G4122F was used to perform the microarray. All the original data underwent Log2 transformed global mean normalization.

2.2.1.8 Differential Gene Expression Analysis, KEGG and Gene Set Enrichment Analysis

The differential gene analysis (DEG) was performed with JMP Genomics software version 10.2. Genes were considered differentially expressed if false discovery

rate (FDR) < 0.05. For functional and pathway enrichment analysis of DEGs enrichment analyses for Gene Ontology (biological process) and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) were performed using Enrichr platform [189]. The heatmap and volcano plots were generated with the Basic RNA-seq Workflow of JMP Genomics 10.2. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) is a computational method to assess whether a priori defined gen set shows significant difference between two subsets by analysis of all genes according to their differential expression rank, without prescreening DEGs for functional analysis. GSEA software (version 4.2.2) was used to perform this analysis using the normalized datasets. The hallmark gene sets from the molecular signature database (MSigDB) were selected as the gene set database while all other parameters were defaulted based on the GSEA user guide. The hallmark pathways were considered significantly changed if p-value < 0.05.

## 2.2.2 Results

# 2.2.2.1 Human and Murine AAA Transcriptomics Analysis Revealed Marked Upregulation in Inflammatory Pathways and HMGB1

To compare the transcriptomics profile of human aneurysmal tissue with normal controls, RNA-seq data of human aneurysmal tissue from 49 patients and 10 healthy donors were downloaded from GEO database with accession number GSE57691. After data normalization, we performed differentially expressed genes (DEGs) analysis which identified a total of 5216 DEGs (479 up vs. 4737 down) with distinct pattern differences among the two sample groups (**Figures 3-2 and 3-3**). Furthermore, KEGG analysis of the upregulated DEGs indicated significant enrichment in the biological process of cytokine receptor interaction and inflammatory pathway activation (**Figure 3-3**). To gain a better understanding of putative functional differences between normal vs. aneurysmal human abdominal aortic tissue, we used gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) and the hallmark gene sets from the molecular signature database (MSigDB) were selected to indicate

the overrepresented pathways. Comparable with the KEGG analysis, the top upregulated pathways were shown representation of inflammatory cascade activation with TNF $\alpha$  and IL-6/JAK/STAT3 being significantly upregulated (**Figure 3-3**). Given the major involvement of these pathways in HMGB1 release, a master inflammatory molecule, we looked at the z-scored RNA expression of *HMGB1* in this dataset and detected a marked upregulation in *HMGB1* RNA expression (**Figure 3-3**).

To further explore the role of HMGB1 and inflammatory pathways in experimental aneurysm, the RNA-seq data of the suprarenal aorta from saline vs. 28-day Angll-infused mice (n=6 per group) were downloaded from GEO (GSE17901) and submitted to the same analyses as mentioned before. We identified a total of 464 DEGs (408 up vs. 56 down). Consistent with data from human aortic tissue, *Hmgb1* mRNA expression was markedly increased in the AnglI-infused AAAs compared to nonaneurysmal controls (**Figure 3-4**). As expected, this was also associated with increased upregulation of inflammatory pathways which are known to play a critical role in AAA inflammation. Collectively and in agreement with previous studies, these results suggested that the upregulation of HMGB1 downstream inflammatory pathways may be a major contributing factor to both human and murine AAAs.

# 2.2.2.2 HMGB1 Was Increased in the Abdominal Aorta of AngII-Infused Male Mice

Results from our transcriptomics analysis prompted us to further validate and evaluate the contribution of HMGB1 in experimental AAA. We examined HMGB1 in an established AngII-induced murine model. Male LDLr-/- mice were fed a saturated fat-enriched diet for 2 weeks and were infused with either saline or AngII (1,000 ng/kg/min) by osmotic minipumps for the last week. In protein analysis, consistent with our human and murine transcriptomics analysis, Western blot analyses showed a marked increase of HMGB1 in suprarenal aortas from mice infused with AngII (**Figure 3-5**). Immunostaining of HMGB1 in control suprarenal aortas displayed mild intensity in aortic medial layers with disperse presence in cytosol, whereas it was intense in the suprarenal aortas from AnglI-infused mice with depleted nuclei in the aortic medial layer (**Figure3-5**)

# 2.2.2.3 HMGB1 Neutralizing Monoclonal Antibody (2G7) Treatment Had No Effect on AngII-induced AAA

As previously mentioned, HMGB1 translocation from nucleolus to cytoplasm and its eventual release to the extracellular milieu can trigger inflammatory signaling cascade though various pattern recognition receptors. To determine the role of HMGB1 in AngII-induced AAAs, a monoclonal anti-HMGB1 antibody (2G7, mouse IgG2b, 50 µg/kg/every 3 days) or an isotype-matched control were intraperitoneally injected to 8-10-week-old male LDLr-/- mice that were fed a Western diet and infused with AngII (1,000 ng/kg/day) for 28 days (n=10/each group).

Quantification of *en face* atherosclerotic percent lesion area and abdominal aortic diameter with ultrasonography or *ex vivo* indicated that neutralizing HMGB1 with a low dose of 50  $\mu$ g by every 3-day did not show a significant decrease in the abdominal aortic diameter of AngII infused mice (control: 1.8 mm ± 0.2, 2G7: 1.5 mm ± 0.2, P = 0.231 – **Figure 3-6**). Although there was no detected difference in treatment vs. control group, a limitation of the neutralization approach was to validate the successful inhibition and dosing of HMGB1 in a chronic AngII-infused condition. As mentioned, given the lack of a viable genetic deletion model, future approaches should investigate inhibitory approaches with dose-response and efficacy validation studies.



AAA Patients

Control Donor

**Figure 2-2: Abdominal aortic aneurysms have a unique pattern of differentially expressed genes.** Heatmap of the 5216 differentially expressed genes between human abdominal aortic aneurysmal specimen and normal tissue from donors. AAA; abdominal aortic aneurysm



**Figure 2-3:** Analysis of differentially expressed genes from human aneurysmal aortic tissue and control donors. (A) Volcano plot illustrating fold change in gene expression (x-axis) and statistical significance (y-axis). Genes labelled in blue exhibited significant decrease in aneurysmal tissue compared to control abdominal aortas; genes labelled in red exhibited significant increase in pathological aortas. (B) Representative GSEA enrichment plots showing the top up-regulated pathways. (C) KEGG pathway analysis from up-regulated differentially expressed genes. (D) Z-scored mRNA expression of *Hmgb1* in human aneurysmal abdominal aorta compared to control donors. NES; normalized enrichment score, AAA; abdominal aortic aneurysm.



**Figure 2-4:** Analysis of differentially expressed genes from 28-day Angiotensin-II-infused abdominal aortic tissue compared to saline. (A) Volcano plot of differentially expressed genes in abdominal aorta of AngII vs. saline. (B) Gene ontology Biological Process pathway analysis from up-regulated differentially expressed genes. (C) Z-scored mRNA expression of *Hmgb1* 



**Figure 2-5: HMGB1 is markedly increased in 7-day Angll-infused abdominal aortic tissue of male LDLR-/- mice.** (**A**) Western blot for HMGB1 and βactin and the corresponding quantification (N=4 per group). (**B**) Representative images of immunostaining for HMGB1 (red) in suprarenal aortas from saline (left) or Angll-infused (right) mice (N=3 per group). Red arrows indicate the nuclei depleted from HMGB1.



Figure 2-6: LDLR-/- mice were infused with AnglI for 28 days and were treated with either HMGB1 neutralizing monoclonal antibody (2G7) or the isotope matched IgG (A). Study design. (B) Atherosclerotic lesion areas were measured on the intimal surface of the aortic arch region using an *en face* method. Percent lesion area=lesion area/the entire intimal area×100%. (C) representative ultrasound images of suprarenal aorta and corresponding quantification. Dotted lines delineate the aortic wall. (D) Maximal aortic widths of suprarenal aortas were measured on *ex vivo* aortic images.  $\blacktriangledown$ , values of individual mice (N=9 per group); •, means; and error bars, SEM. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Student's t-test. WD; Western diet, AngII; angiotensin II.

## 2.2.3 Discussion

HMGB1 is a non-histone chromatin protein that plays a role in the regulation of gene expression, DNA repair, immune response and it has also been implicated in various inflammatory vascular diseases [164, 165]. Previous studies have reported increased levels of HMGB1 have been found in the plasma and tissues of patients with AAA, suggesting that it may contribute to the formation and growth of the aneurysm. However, further studies are needed to determine the exact role of HMGB1 in AAA and to explore its potential as a therapeutic target for the treatment of this condition. Moreover, utilizing systematic approaches such as bulk RNA or single-cell sequencing in various disease conditions can help to better understand the network of molecules involved in potential HMGB1 release or downstream effects.

Our study results showed that there was a marked upregulation in both human and murine AAA of genes involved in the inflammatory response. Specifically, genes related to the innate immune response and the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines were highly expressed. The study also showed a significant increase in the expression of HMGB1, in both RNA and protein levels. Although HMGB1 may be a potential target for the treatment of AAA, it is a very challenging molecule to target with various functions and biological activities that are driven by its subcellular localization and PTMs [190].

Our studies utilized a previously reported HMGB1-neutralizing monoclonal antibody (2G7) to treat the AngII-infused hypercholesterolemic mice. However, our result did not indicate a significant reduction in AngII-induced AAA. The dosing used in our study was based on previous reports for short-term studies and was limited by a lack of verification methods to assess whether the drug is onboard.

In conclusion, our results indicated a parallel inflammatory response in clinical and experimental AAAs with HMGB1 as a comparable upregulated master inflammatory gene. Overall RNA expression data indicated remarkably

comparable inflammatory signals between the clinical and AngII model. This conclusion provides a rationale for the potential beneficial effects of HMGB1 inhibition therapy for the attenuation of AAA development. The findings will be valuable in guiding the development of new and more effective treatments for AAA.

# CHAPTER 3. SUSTAINED INHIBITION OF HIGH MOBILITY GROUP BOX 1 BY ANTISENSE OLIGONUCLEOTIDE AND ITS INHIBITION EFFECT ON AAA

(Parts of this section are based on a brief report publication in process titled "HMGB1 Inhibition Attenuates Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm" detailing the central finding that HMGB1 plays a central role in AngII-induced AAAs.)

# 3.1 Introduction: HMGB1 ASOs

Antisense oligonucleotides (ASOs) are effective single stranded nucleic acidbased therapeutic agents that represent a unique drug discovery approach for treating a variety of disease with several approved for use in the clinic and others in late stages of clinical development. ASOs mode of action is to hybridize to specific RNAs or pre-mRNAs through Watson–Crick base pairing and affect the production of the protein of interest by degrading the RNA strand of a DNA–RNA duplex via the ubiquitously expressed cellular enzyme, RNase H1. The therapeutic ASOs are single-stranded oligonucleotides that are 14 to 20 nucleotides in length, with an overall negative charge.

The classic systemically administered ASOs are primary distributed to liver and kidney tissue with the highest productive uptake whereas other tissues show significantly less pharmacodynamic and uptake. Much progress has been made to improve the potency, efficacy, and pharmacokinetic properties of ASOs. ASOs modified by uniform deoxyphosphorothioates throughout the backbone are defined as generation 1 (Gen 1). In addition, the most widely used ASOs contain DNA-like 2' deoxyphosphorothioates in the center region, with the termini modified in the 2' position of the ribose moieties with methoxyethyls (MOE). These modified ASOs are known as the generation 2 (Gen 2). In the generation 2.5 (Gen 2.5), the ribose moieties in the ASO is altered with a 2,4-constrained ethyl (cEt) design that can be conjugated to fatty acids such as palmitic acid. Consequently, Gen 2.5 ASOs

exhibit improved potency compared to the first-generation drugs, and have elevated duration of action allowing for more infrequent dosing and fewer unwanted side effects.

Given the limitations of HMGB1 genetic deletion and inhibitory approaches such as neutralizing antibodies that were discussed in previous sections, we thought to investigate the effectiveness of a novel HMGB1 ASO approach to inhibit this master inflammatory molecule. In this study, we screened the efficacy of several HMGB1 ASOs Gen 1 and Gen 2.5 during various time points.



**Figure 3-1:** *Hmgb1* mRNA expression across various tissues. (A) Female and (B) male C57BL/6J mice terminated at baseline to assess the RNA expression of Hmgb1 in different organs. N = 5.

## 3.2 Methodology

## 3.2.1 Animals and Mouse Studies

C57BL/6J (Stock #000664) were purchased from The Jackson Laboratory and were housed in ventilated cages with negative air pressure (Allentown Inc.), Aspen hardwood chips as bedding (#7090A, Envigo) with a 14:10 hour light:dark cycle and temperature ranging from 68 to 74' F. For Angiotensin II (AngII) studies, mice were fed a saturated fat-enriched diet (Diet # TD.88137, Harlan Teklad) one week prior to infusion with either saline or AngII (1,000 ng/kg/min) by osmotic minipumps for the study duration. To induce hypercholesterolemia in C57BL/6J mice, animals were randomized to receive injections of Adeno-associated Viral (AAV) vectors containing either a null insert or a mouse PCSK9 insert expressing D377Y mutation. AAV vectors were diluted in sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, 200 µl per mouse) and injected intraperitoneally (one time) as reported previously [191]. AAV-injected mice had a predefined exclusion from the data analysis if plasma total cholesterol concentrations were < 300 mg/dl two weeks and < 500 mg/dl at termination, even if they had abdominal aortic aneurysmal formation.

All mouse experiments reported in this manuscript were performed with the approval of the University of Kentucky Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (University of Kentucky IACUC protocol number: 2006-0009).

3.2.2 Administration of Antisense Oligonucleotides

All the Antisense Oligonucleotides (ASOs) were provided by Ionis Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Optimal dose and preparation information (lowest dose with the maximal inhibition of HMGB1 mRNA) was provided by Ionis Pharmaceuticals Inc for all the ASO studies. For ASO Gen 1 optimization study, either ASO 349345 (100 mg/kg/day) or PBS was injected intraperitoneally into male C57BL/6J mice (8-10-week-old) at day 0, 7, and 14 before termination at day 21.
For ASO Gen 2.5 studies, ASOs (ASOs 1570472, or 1570553) were injected at day 0 and day 3 in the initial week and once a week for the duration of the study. Either ASOs (25 mg/kg/day) or PBS were injected intraperitoneally into male C57BL/6J mice (8-10-week-old). HMGB1 Gen 2.5 ASOs (ASOs 1706941, 1706942, 1706943 or 1706944) were injected subcutaneously at day 0 and day 3 in the initial week and once in the second week before termination after two weeks of study durations. For the AngII ASO studies, HMGB1 ASO 1706944 was injected subcutaneously at day 0 and day 3 after pump implantation in the initial week and once every week for the duration of the study.

### 3.2.3 Western Blot and qPCR

All tissues were homogenized using cell lysis buffer. Protein samples (5  $\mu$ g) were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes. After 45 minutes of blocking, membranes were incubated with HMGB1 (Abcam, CST 3935) and  $\beta$ -actin antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, A5441) for 1 hour, respectively. Then membranes were incubated with goat anti-rabbit or anti-mouse secondary antibodies (Vector, T1101, and T10813) for 1 hour at room temperature. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence (Bio-Rad, 1705061) using a Bio-Rad ChemiDoc imager.

Total RNA was extracted using an RSC Maxwell purification system. Total RNA was reversely transcribed with an iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis kit (Bio-Rad), and mRNA abundance was quantified using a SsoFastTM EvaGreen® Supermix kit (Bio-Rad) on a Bio-Rad CFX96 cycler. Data were calculated using  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method.  $\beta$ -actin, GAPDH, and RPLP2 were used as internal controls.

### 3.2.4 Plasma Cholesterol Determinations

Mouse blood was collected in the presence of EDTA (2 µl or 10 µl of 0.5 M EDTA). During the experiment, blood was collected through retro-orbital bleeding

at selected intervals. Cardiac bleeding via right ventricle was used to collect blood at termination. Blood samples were collected using right ventricular puncture after anesthesia (a mixture of ketamine ~ 210 mg/kg and xylene ~ 30 mg/kg). Plasma total cholesterol concentrations were measured using a commercial enzymatic kit (Pointe Scientific cat # C7510-120, USA and standard, Pointe Scientific cat # C7509STD).

#### 3.2.5 Blood Pressure Measurement

Systolic blood pressure was measured on conscious mice using a noninvasive tail-cuff system (Coda 8, Kent Scientific Corporation) following our standard protocol. Data were collected and analyzed based on 20 measurements of each mouse every day for three consecutive days. The mean systolic blood pressure of each mouse from the 3-day measurements was used for data analysis. Data showing <60 or >250 mmHg, standard deviation >30 mmHg, or collected cycles <5 of 20 were excluded.

### 3.2.6 Aortic Pathology Measurements

The aortic diameter was quantified by measuring maximal outer width of suprarenal aortas using Nikon software. An *en face* method was used to measure atherosclerotic lesions on the intimal surface of the aorta following the American Heart Association statement [177] and as detailed in our standard protocol posted on protocols.io (dx.doi.org/10.17504/protocols.io.bfy8jpzw). In short, thoracic aortas were dissected and fixed in 10% neutrally buffered formalin overnight. The intimal surface was exposed by a longitudinal cut and pinned for quantification of intimal area and atherosclerotic lesion area in a region including ascending, arch, and 3 mm of descending aorta. Images of *en face* aortas were taken by a Nikon digital camera (Nikon digital sight DS-Ri1) with a mm ruler for calibration. Atherosclerosis was compared between groups with percent lesion area (lesion area/intimal area x 100%).



Figure 3-2: ASO Gen 1 administration resulted in modest decrease of HMGB1. (A) Male C57BL/6J mice were injected with ASO Gen 1 for two weeks. (B) ASO administration did not affect body weight in treatment group. (C-D) *Hmgb1* mRNA expression was decreased in liver and kidney tissue (D-F) HMGB1 protein abundance was modesty reduced. N = 5 per group. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Mann-Whitney Rank Sum Test.

### 3.3 Results

3.3.1 *Hmgb1* Was Highly Abundant in Multiple Organs in Both Male and Female C57BL/6J Mice

To screen the mRNA abundance of *Hmgb1* across murine tissues, male and female 6-8-week-old C57BL/6j mice were euthanized and various tissues were harvested for RNA extraction and *Hmgb1* gene expression analysis. Results indicated the high abundance of HMGB1 across all tissues with lung tissue exhibiting the highest *Hmgb1* RNA expression (**Figure 4.1**). Given the high abundance of HMGB1 in the lung, this tissue was selected for further ASO efficacy analysis in addition to liver and kidney, as the major organs with high ASO uptake.

# 3.3.2 HMGB1 ASO Injection Significantly Reduced *Hmgb1* mRNA and Protein Abundance

Given the ubiquitous expression of HMGB1 across various tissues, HMGB1 ASO Gen 1 (ASO 349345) was administrated to male 8-10-week-old mice in a pilot study to characterize its efficiency in HMGB1 inhibition (n=5 per group). Mice were terminated two weeks after initial ASO injection and results indicated that liver *Hmgb1* RNA was modestly decreased with slight protein reduction (**Figure 4.2**). Given the modest efficiency of HMGB1 ASO Gen 1, two new HMGB1 ASO Gen 2.5 (ASOs 1570472 and 1570553) were screened to assess the efficiency in HMGB1 reduction. Either ASOs (25 mg/kg/day) or phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) were injected intraperitoneally into male C57BL/6J mice (8-10-week-old). ASOs were injected at day 0 and day 3 in the initial week and once a week for the duration of the study. Mice were terminated at either 2, 4, or 12 weeks after



**Figure 3-3: ASO Gen 2.5 administration resulted in consistent decrease of HMGB1 in liver tissue at various time points. All study mice were male C57BL/6J mice.** (A-C) *Hmgb1* mRNA expression and (D-F) HMGB1 protein abundance at week 2, 6 and 12. N = 5 per group. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks



**Figure 3-4: ASO Gen 2.5 administration resulted in consistent decrease of HMGB1 in lung tissue at various time points. All study mice were male C57BL/6J mice.** (A-C) *Hmgb1* mRNA expression and (D-F) HMGB1 protein abundance at week 2, 6 and 12. N = 5 per group. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks.



Figure 3-5: ASO Gen 2.5 administration resulted in consistent decrease of HMGB1 in kidney tissue at various time points. All study mice were male C57BL/6J mice. (A-C) *Hmgb1* mRNA expression and (D-F) HMGB1 protein abundance at week 2, 6 and 12. N = 5 per group. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks.



Figure 3-6: Plasma ALT levels at various timepoint after ASO injection. Plasma ALT levels were measured by IONIS Pharmaceuticals at week 2 (A), week 4 (B) and week 12 (C) of the study duration (N = 5 per group). P < 0.05 was considered significant by Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance on Ranks. ALT; alanine transaminase



Figure 3-7: Pilot study to examine the efficacy of HMGB1 ASOs. (A) Plasma ALT levels were measured by IONIS Pharmaceuticals at (N = 3 per group). (B) *Hmgb1* mRNA expression in liver tissue. P < 0.05 was considered significant by Student's t-test between individual ASO groups and control.

the initial injection of ASOs (N = 5/group). Since HMGB1 is highly abundant in kidney and liver, mRNA and protein abundance of HMGB1 were examined subsequently in these organs by qPCR and Western blot analyses. ASO 1570553 administration resulted in marked decrease of *Hmgb1* mRNA abundance in kidney, liver and lung tissue by 2 weeks of ASO injection. The decreased Hmbg1 mRNA abundance was observed consistently at both week 4 and 12 (Figures 4-3, 4-4, and 4-5). A similar pattern of protein abundance reduction was obtained in the aforementioned tissues indicating that ASO 1570553 is a potential candidate for further studies (Figures 4-3, 4-4, and 4-5). Although the ASO 1570553 exhibited high efficiency in HMGB1 reduction, further analysis on liver toxicity revealed concerning elevated liver enzymes in all treated animals (Figure 4-6). To address this, a new cohort of HMGB1 Gen 2.5 ASOs were generated to improve the tolerability (ASOs 1706941, 1706942, 1706943 and 1706944). In a pilot study, 15 male C57BL/6J mice (8-10-week-old) were divided into 5 groups (n=3 per group) and PBS or ASOs were injected subcutaneously at day 0 and day 3 in the initial week and once in the second week before termination after 2 weeks of study durations. Pilot study results indicated that all treated groups showed almost ablation of liver *Hmgb1* mRNA expression with ASO 1706944 exhibiting the best combined efficiency and tolerability (Figure 4-7). Collectively our data revealed that ASOs can be used as a novel approach to efficiently reduce HMGB1 in various tissues at various time points and results of our studies characterized a potential ASO candidate suitable for further studies involving HMGB1 contribution in pathology development.

## 3.3.3 HMGB1 Inhibition Attenuates Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm

To determine the role of HMGB1 in AnglI-induced AAA and atherosclerosis development, PCSK9-AAV injected male C57BL/6 (8-12 week old) mice were infused with AngII (1,000 ng/kg/day, n=14 per group) for 28 days and injected with either PBS or HMGB1 ASO 1706944 for the duration of the study (**Figure 4-8**).

Real-time PCR on liver tissue of study mice validated the HMGB1 ASO efficiency (**Figure 4-9**). Body weights and blood pressure were similar between study groups. However, ASO-treated mice exhibited significantly lower total plasma cholesterol (**Figure 4-9**). Study results indicated that treatment with HMGB1 ASO profoundly attenuated the AngII-induced increase in suprarenal aortic diameter when compared with PBS treated group (**Figure 4-10, 4-11**). Further, *en face* analysis also revealed significantly lower atherosclerotic lesion size and arch area in ASO-treated mice (**Figure 4-12**). Taken all together, our results indicated that HMGB1 plays a decisive role in orchestrating the AngII-induced AAA and atherosclerosis development in hypercholesterolemic mice.



Figure 3-8: Study design schematics



Figure 3-9: HMGB1 ASO treatment significantly reduced liver mRNA expression and total plasma cholesterol without any effects on systolic blood pressure and body weights. (A) mRNA abundance of liver *Hmgb1*. \*P<0.05 by Student's t-test. (B) Weekly body weights in 6 weeks. (C) Systolic blood pressure was measured using a tail-cuff system at termination week. N.S: not significant by Student's t-test. (D) Plasma total cholesterol concentrations were measured by an enzymatic assay kit and analyzed with one-way ANOVA. N = 14 per group.



Figure 3-10: Maximal AAA external diameters at study endpoint. Symbols represent individual mice. Data are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n = 14 per group who survived the 28-day protocol. P<0.05 was considered significant determined by Student's t-test.



**Figure 3-11: Gross appearance of aortas from mice in each group at study endpoint.** HMGB1 ASO administration scientifically attenuated AngII-induced AAA.



**Figure 3-12: HMGB1 ASO administration significantly reduced ascending aorta area and atherosclerosis.** (A) Ascending aortic arch area. (B) Atherosclerotic lesion areas were measured on the intimal surface of the aortic arch region using an *en face* method. Percent lesion area=lesion area/the entire intimal area×100%. P<0.05 was considered significant determined by Student's t-test.

### 3.4 Discussion

ASOs are single-stranded DNA/RNA-like compounds that can modulate the expression of specific cellular target RNA [195]. These ASOs are designed based on the gene sequences that can target 'undruggable proteins' that are difficult to target. In addition, they are strong tools in murine studies to investigate the direct role of genes that are not feasible to create genetic deletions [196]. Additionally, a major advantage of ASOs in murine studies is the ability to target genes that are embryonically lethal for the generation of genetic mouse models. ASOs have been extensively studied and improved to increase their potency, stability, and efficacy, with several therapeutic ASOs being currently approved or in late-stage clinical development [197].

Here, we described, for the first time, a novel strategy for targeted inhibition of HMGB1 using an ASO approach with maximum efficiency. Our detailed studies showed that a palmitic-acid conjugated Gen 2.5 HMGB1 ASO can sufficiently abolish HMGB1 protein abundance and Hmgb1 mRNA expression across various tissues at various time points. Although we reported the profound inhibitory effect of HMGB1 ASO, it should be taken into consideration that we did not study how discontinuation of weekly ASO injections would affect HMGB1 protein abundance or *Hmgb1* mRNA expression. To further understand the direct role of HMGB1 in experimental AAA, we administered HMGB1 ASO to AnglI-infused mice and reported the profound attenuation of AngII-induced pathology in ASO-administered mice. Our findings agree with recent studies that report HMGB1 as a contributing factor to AAA [165]. Although earlier studies have shown the contribution of HMGB1 in AAA [162, 164], this is the first study to report the effect of HMGB1specific systematic inhibition in AnglI-induced AAA. Our results also indicated a reduction in atherosclerotic lesion development and lower plasma cholesterol in the ASO-injected group. It should be noted that although the cholesterol levels were lower in the ASO group, the attenuation effects could be "independent" of the cholesterol levels. Studies from our group and others have shown that apolipoprotein E mice that have modest hypercholesterolemia (total plasma

cholesterol level ~ 300 - 400 mg/dl compared to LDL receptor -/- mice fed a Western diet (> 1000 mg/ dl)) still develop higher incidence and mortality of AAAs [198, 199]. Therefore, the modest decrease in the ASO group is not expected to be a contributing factor to the observed results.

In conclusion, our data established that the ASO approach could significantly decrease HMGB1 expression, and its inhibition in an experimental aneurysm model can profoundly attenuate the AngII-induced AAA formation. Further, utilizing an ASO approach to inhibit HMGB1 can provide more clear insights into understanding the biological functions of HMGB1 with strong clinical significance

### CHAPTER 4. GENERAL DISCUSSION, LIMITATIONS, AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The overarching goal of these projects was to elucidate the role of HMGB1 in abdominal aortic aneurysms. In accomplishing this goal, we utilized systematic approaches to investigate its role, validated the findings, and introduced a novel ASO approach to inhibit HMGB1 successfully and profoundly attenuate AngIIinduced AAA.

AAA is a complex multifactorial and enigmatic pathology of unclear etiology, with aortic wall inflammation as one of its main characteristics [185]. AAAs generally remain clinically silent until manifested by a life-threatening rupture [156]. The diagnosed intact AAAs are usually a reflection of a long-standing disease, which is diagnosed either as a consequence of active screening or as an incidental finding during abdominal imaging. Since current molecular insights about AAA molecular basis rely heavily on data derived from aneurysmal surgical specimens, little is known about the molecular pathways involved in initiating the pathology. Therefore, assumptions of earlier disease stages and initiation processes are mainly based on extrapolation of the observations on data derived from rodent models of AAA, in particular the AngII model [156, 159]. As a consequence of the complexity of AAA etiology and the limitation of human studies in addressing the early pathology-development characteristics, a direct therapeutic target has proven challenging to develop. Therefore, there is a pressing need to better understand the pathology and find a therapeutic target.

HMGB1 is a well-known inflammatory molecule that has been shown to be involved with vascular diseases such as AAAs [164, 165]. However, HMGB1 is a very challenging molecule to target with various functions and biological activities that are driven by its subcellular localization and PTMs [190]. Although much of the available literature discussed in the chapter one of this dissertation shed light on multiple signaling pathways involved in HMGB1 biology, release, PTMs, and

80

involvement in vascular diseases, it should be highlighted that these data are mostly based on *in vitro* studies or experiments that utilize HMGB1 inhibitors with potential non-specific responses. Although several strategies discussed in chapter 1 have been shown to successfully diminish the HMGB1-driven inflammatory response and given the lethality of creating whole-body *Hmgb1* deficient experimental animals, the challenges remain to fully understand the direct correlations with disease severity and potential downstream mechanism. Indeed, studies utilizing conditional *Hmgb1* deletion or novel approaches such as Antisense Oligonucleotide (ASO) therapies can tackle many unresolved questions. Moreover, utilizing systematic approaches such as bulk RNA or single-cell sequencing in various disease conditions can help to better understand the network of molecules involved in potential HMGB1 release or downstream effects.

Utilizing the bulk RNA sequencing approach for investigating aneurysmal tissue in both human and murine samples and by using an HMGB1 ASO, this body of work presented in chapters 3 and 4 reports the novel findings of the major contribution of HMGB1 in human and experimental AAA and the strong attenuation of AnglI-induced AAA after HMGB1 ASO administration. As discussed in chapter 3, our results demonstrated that bulk RNA-seq data shows a marked upregulation of HMGB1 in the aortic specimen of human aneurysmal tissue with expected upregulation of inflammatory pathways. Although our analysis directly explored the expression level of HMGB1, the result agrees with previous reports that indicated the role of inflammatory response in AAA pathogenesis, and the array findings for cytokines/chemokines are in line with previous quantitative data [187, 192, 193]. Further, our RNA-seq analysis on expression profiling of the murine AnglI model (GEO 17901) also reported the 28 days of AnglI-infusion induced the wide-ranging upregulation in inflammatory genes including the marked increase of HMGB1. In agreement with previous reports in both human and murine RNA-seq analysis, our data showed that the genomic signature of human AAA disease was dominated by activation of inflammatory signals, and a similar overt inflammatory response was observed for the AnglI-induced AAA [162, 187, 188, 194]. Given the late-stage

disease state of the aortic samples used for the RNA-seq datasets, we thought to look at the HMGB1 level in the early-stage of AngII-induced AAA. Our data results indicated a significant increase of HMGB1 protein abundance in the abdominal aorta after AngII-infusion, which is in accordance with the previous finding utilizing the same model [164, 165]. By combining human and murine RNA-seq data with early-stage murine disease experiments, our findings substantiate previous reports about the increased HMGB1 levels in pathological tissue and, more importantly, suggest that HMGB1 can be a critical inflammatory signal that is involved in the initiation stage of AAA.

The RNA-seq analysis primarily relies on the integration of whole tissue RNA; therefore, such analysis lacks information on individual genes, and cell types, which makes it prone to interference related to different cellular compositions. Additionally, RNA expression analysis excludes aspects of pretranslational (miRNA, long non-coding RNAs) and posttranslational modifications (acetylation, methylation, ribosylation) in addition to potential functions for cells without active protein synthesis [194]. Further, the clinical data used for the human RNA-seq analysis used control donors from a population of elderly organ donors. Although the age range matched that of the AAA patient cohort, most samples still could possibly present with aspects of the atherosclerotic process. Utilizing the murine RNA-seq data set, the potential interference of this aspect is partially eliminated; however, this remains a potential confounding source worth investigating. Another limitation of the clinical data used on the RNA-seq analysis is the limited number of female patients (3% in the AAA cohort and 33%) in the controls) which disables us from concluding the potential impact of sex in the genetic signatures. Finally, the murine dataset was limited to mice with intact AAA, and ruptured aortic tissue did not undergo expression profiling. It is worth mentioning that monitoring murine models of AAA to detect a rupture and harvest the tissue in a timely manner is extremely hard to accomplish and technically challenging.

In conclusion, the results presented in chapter 3 of this body of work indicated a parallel inflammatory response in clinical and experimental AAAs with HMGB1 as a comparable upregulated master inflammatory gene. Overall RNA expression data indicated remarkably comparable inflammatory signals between the clinical and AngII model. This conclusion provides a rationale for the potential beneficial effects of HMGB1 inhibition therapy for the attenuation of AAA development.

In the body of work presented in chapter 3 of this dissertation, we screened seven different ASO candidates to successfully inhibit HMGB1 without any adverse hepatic effects. Here, we described, for the first time, a novel strategy for targeted inhibition of HMGB1 using an ASO approach with maximum efficiency. Our detailed studies showed that a palmitic-acid conjugated Gen 2.5 HMGB1 ASO can sufficiently abolish HMGB1 protein abundance and *Hmgb1* mRNA expression across various tissues at various time points. Although we reported the profound inhibitory effect of HMGB1 ASO, it should be taken into consideration that we did not study how discontinuation of weekly ASO injections would affect HMGB1 protein abundance or *Hmgb1* mRNA expression. To further understand the direct role of HMGB1 in experimental AAA, we administered HMGB1 ASO to Angll-infused mice and reported the profound attenuation of AnglI-induced pathology in ASO-administered mice. Although earlier studies have shown the contribution of HMGB1 in AAA [162, 164], this is the first study to report the effect of HMGB1-specific systematic inhibition in AngII-induced AAA.

Although our data reported the profound attenuation of the AngII-induced AAA after HMGB1 ASO administration, the mechanism of HMGB1 action remains to be elucidated in future studies. The Gen 2.5 ASO can target various organs such as the liver, kidney, spleen, heart, and lung; however, it is not clear whether an aortic ASO uptake exists. Additionally, future studies should focus on understanding the cell type responsible for HMGB1 release and the downstream mechanism of action. Recent findings have provided partial mechanistic evidence of the role of HMGB1 in vascular remodeling and AAA [165]. These data

83

demonstrate that HMGB1 derived from lung tissue from an injured lung can express complex mitochondrial stress responses in arterial macrophages [165]. Although these findings report an interesting potential mechanism underlying the epidemiological findings that individuals suffering from chronic lung diseases have an increased risk of developing AAA, this study lacks direct evidence of HMGB1 inhibition and its effects on pathology development.

Nonetheless, our findings indirectly could support the reported findings in this study that HMGB1 can leak into the circulation and alter the physiology of the abdominal aortic wall [165]. It is possible that the trafficking of HMGB1 from a distal organ may be responsible for the heightened inflammation in aortic tissue during pathology initiation. Taken all together, our results invoke the specific targeting of HMGB1 that can orient towards dampening of inflammation or potentially modify the involved pathological pathways. Therefore, our findings pave the way for developing promising therapeutic strategies to selectively target HMGB1 and repress vascular inflammation and consequent AAA development.

Given the increasing amount of correlational clinical studies that report disease severity and HMGB1 levels, it is not out of sight to see HMGB1 as the next candidate for an FDA-approved inflammatory disease biomarker and a potential drug target for various inflammatory diseases including AAAs. Nevertheless, further clinical studies with larger patient cohorts and the introduction of preclinical compounds are needed to move this field forward. In addition, the field of HMGB1 biology is in dire need of reliable and standardized assays to measure HMGB1 in plasma and tissue. Currently available modes of measuring HMGB1 levels are based on antibody-based systems in the form of either ELISA or immunohistochemistry, with fewer studies reporting the tissue level by looking at specific mRNA concentrations. The mentioned antibody-based measurements can potentially report false positives if they target interaction regions with other binding proteins such as RAGE or TLR4. Nonetheless, the mass spectrometry-based assay would be the gold standard not only to provide a consistent measure of actual HMGB1 level but also enables us to distinguish between different isoforms.

84

Into the bargain, it is also essential to better understand the HMGB1 half-life and its isoforms in experimental models or patients and investigate the dynamic of HMGB1 diffusion from the source of release to the circulation and its potential effects on distal organs.

## REFERENCES

- Goodwin, G.H. and E.W. Johns, Isolation and Characterisation of Two Calf-Thymus Chromatin Non-Histone Proteins with High Contents of Acidic and Basic Amino Acids. European Journal of Biochemistry, 1973.
   40(1): p. 215-219.
- Sessa, L. and M.E. Bianchi, *The evolution of High Mobility Group Box* (*HMGB*) chromatin proteins in multicellular animals. Gene, 2007. **387**(1-2): p. 133-40.
- 3. Chen, R., R. Kang, and D. Tang, *The mechanism of HMGB1 secretion and release.* Exp Mol Med, 2022. **54**(2): p. 91-102.
- 4. Urbonaviciute, V. and R.E. Voll, *High-mobility group box 1 represents a potential marker of disease activity and novel therapeutic target in systemic lupus erythematosus.* J Intern Med, 2011. **270**(4): p. 309-18.
- Calogero, S., et al., *The lack of chromosomal protein Hmg1 does not disrupt cell growth but causes lethal hypoglycaemia in newborn mice.* Nature Genetics, 1999. 22(3): p. 276-280.
- 6. Wang, H., et al., *HMG-1 as a Late Mediator of Endotoxin Lethality in Mice.* Science, 1999. **285**(5425): p. 248-251.
- Scaffidi, P., T. Misteli, and M.E. Bianchi, *Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation.* Nature, 2002. **418**(6894): p. 191-195.
- Xue, J., et al., *HMGB1 as a therapeutic target in disease*. J Cell Physiol, 2021. 236(5): p. 3406-3419.
- Bonaldi, T., et al., *Monocytic cells hyperacetylate chromatin protein HMGB1 to redirect it towards secretion.* The EMBO Journal, 2003. 22(20): p. 5551-5560.
- Tang, Y., et al., *Regulation of Posttranslational Modifications of HMGB1 During Immune Responses*. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2016. **24**(12): p. 620-34.

- Lu, B., et al., JAK/STAT1 signaling promotes HMGB1 hyperacetylation and nuclear translocation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. 111(8): p. 3068-73.
- Rendon-Mitchell, B., et al., *IFN-gamma induces high mobility group box 1 protein release partly through a TNF-dependent mechanism.* J Immunol, 2003. **170**(7): p. 3890-7.
- 13. Kim, J.H., et al., *Bacterial endotoxin induces the release of high mobility group box 1 via the IFN-beta signaling pathway.* J Immunol, 2009. 182(4):
  p. 2458-66.
- Jiang, W. and D.S. Pisetsky, *The role of IFN-alpha and nitric oxide in the release of HMGB1 by RAW 264.7 cells stimulated with polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid or lipopolysaccharide.* J Immunol, 2006. **177**(5): p. 3337-43.
- 15. Dhupar, R., et al., Interferon regulatory factor 1 mediates acetylation and release of high mobility group box 1 from hepatocytes during murine liver ischemia-reperfusion injury. Shock, 2011. **35**(3): p. 293-301.
- Sakaguchi, S., et al., *Essential role of IRF-3 in lipopolysaccharide-induced interferon-β gene expression and endotoxin shock.* Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 2003. **306**(4): p. 860-866.
- Deng, M., et al., *The Endotoxin Delivery Protein HMGB1 Mediates* Caspase-11-Dependent Lethality in Sepsis. Immunity, 2018. 49(4): p. 740-753 e7.
- Hiramoto, S., et al., Cystitis-Related Bladder Pain Involves ATP-Dependent HMGB1 Release from Macrophages and Its Downstream H2S/Cav3.2 Signaling in Mice. Cells, 2020. 9(8).
- Wang, C.M., M. Jiang, and H.J. Wang, *Effect of NFkappaB inhibitor on highmobility group protein B1 expression in a COPD rat model.* Mol Med Rep, 2013. 7(2): p. 499-502.
- Ferhani, N., et al., *Expression of high-mobility group box 1 and of receptor for advanced glycation end products in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.* Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 2010. **181**(9): p. 917-27.

- Rickenbacher, A., et al., Fasting protects liver from ischemic injury through Sirt1-mediated downregulation of circulating HMGB1 in mice. J Hepatol, 2014. 61(2): p. 301-8.
- Hwang, J.S., et al., *Deacetylation-mediated interaction of SIRT1-HMGB1 improves survival in a mouse model of endotoxemia.* Sci Rep, 2015. 5: p. 15971.
- Xu, S., et al., Evidence for SIRT1 Mediated HMGB1 Release From Kidney Cells in the Early Stages of Hemorrhagic Shock. Front Physiol, 2019. 10: p. 854.
- Rabadi, M.M., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 is a novel deacetylation target of Sirtuin1.* Kidney Int, 2015. 87(1): p. 95-108.
- Chen, Y., et al., *Translocation of Endogenous Danger Signal HMGB1 From Nucleus to Membrane Microvesicles in Macrophages.* J Cell Physiol, 2016. 231(11): p. 2319-26.
- Wu, M., et al., *KPT-330, a potent and selective CRM1 inhibitor, exhibits anti-inflammation effects and protection against sepsis.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2018. **503**(3): p. 1773-1779.
- Tang, D., et al., The anti-inflammatory effects of heat shock protein 72 involve inhibition of high-mobility-group box 1 release and proinflammatory function in macrophages. J Immunol, 2007. 179(2): p. 1236-44.
- Youn, J.H. and J.S. Shin, *Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of HMGB1 is* regulated by phosphorylation that redirects it toward secretion. J Immunol, 2006. **177**(11): p. 7889-97.
- Oh, Y.J., et al., *HMGB1 is phosphorylated by classical protein kinase C and is secreted by a calcium-dependent mechanism.* J Immunol, 2009.
   182(9): p. 5800-9.
- Zhang, X., et al., Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase (CaMK) IV mediates nucleocytoplasmic shuttling and release of HMGB1 during lipopolysaccharide stimulation of macrophages. J Immunol, 2008. 181(7): p. 5015-23.

- Urbonaviciute, V., et al., Induction of inflammatory and immune responses by HMGB1-nucleosome complexes: implications for the pathogenesis of SLE. J Exp Med, 2008. 205(13): p. 3007-18.
- 32. Davis, K., et al., Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation of high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein enhances inhibition of efferocytosis. Mol Med, 2012. 18: p. 359-69.
- Ditsworth, D., W.X. Zong, and C.B. Thompson, Activation of poly(ADP)ribose polymerase (PARP-1) induces release of the pro-inflammatory mediator HMGB1 from the nucleus. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(24): p. 17845-54.
- Qin, W.D., et al., Low shear stress induced HMGB1 translocation and release via PECAM-1/PARP-1 pathway to induce inflammation response.
   PLoS One, 2015. 10(3): p. e0120586.
- Yang, Z., et al., PARP-1 mediates LPS-induced HMGB1 release by macrophages through regulation of HMGB1 acetylation. J Immunol, 2014.
   193(12): p. 6114-23.
- Ni, S.Y., et al., Puerarin Alleviates Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Myocardial Fibrosis by Inhibiting PARP-1 to Prevent HMGB1-Mediated TLR4-NFkappaB Signaling Pathway. Cardiovasc Toxicol, 2020. 20(5): p. 482-491.
- Yang, M., et al., Poly-ADP-ribosylation of HMGB1 regulates
   TNFSF10/TRAIL resistance through autophagy. Autophagy, 2015. 11(2):
   p. 214-24.
- Ito, I., J. Fukazawa, and M. Yoshida, Post-translational methylation of high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) causes its cytoplasmic localization in neutrophils. J Biol Chem, 2007. 282(22): p. 16336-44.
- Wu, F., et al., High mobility group box 1 protein is methylated and transported to cytoplasm in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 2013. 14(10): p. 5789-95.
- 40. Kim, Y.H., et al., *N-linked glycosylation plays a crucial role in the secretion of HMGB1.* J Cell Sci, 2016. **129**(1): p. 29-38.

- Kwak, M.S., et al., *Immunological Significance of HMGB1 Post- Translational Modification and Redox Biology.* Front Immunol, 2020. 11: p. 1189.
- Kwak, M.S., et al., *Reactive oxygen species induce Cys106-mediated anti*parallel HMGB1 dimerization that protects against DNA damage. Redox Biol, 2021. 40: p. 101858.
- 43. Tang, D., et al., *Hydrogen peroxide stimulates macrophages and monocytes to actively release HMGB1.* J Leukoc Biol, 2007. 81(3): p. 741-7.
- Chen, G., et al., Bacterial endotoxin stimulates macrophages to release HMGB1 partly through CD14- and TNF-dependent mechanisms. J Leukoc Biol, 2004. 76(5): p. 994-1001.
- 45. Tsao, P.-N., et al., *Lipopolysaccharide-induced Notch signaling activation through JNK-dependent pathway regulates inflammatory response.* Journal of Biomedical Science, 2011. **18**(1): p. 56.
- 46. Hoppe, G., et al., *Molecular basis for the redox control of nuclear transport of the structural chromatin protein Hmgb1.* Exp Cell Res, 2006. **312**(18): p. 3526-38.
- 47. Kwak, M.S., et al., *Peroxiredoxin-mediated disulfide bond formation is* required for nucleocytoplasmic translocation and secretion of HMGB1 in response to inflammatory stimuli. Redox Biol, 2019. **24**: p. 101203.
- Takamiya, R., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 contributes to lethality of endotoxemia in heme oxygenase-1-deficient mice.* Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2009. 41(2): p. 129-35.
- Tsoyi, K., et al., Heme-oxygenase-1 induction and carbon monoxidereleasing molecule inhibit lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced high-mobility group box 1 release in vitro and improve survival of mice in LPS- and cecal ligation and puncture-induced sepsis model in vivo. Mol Pharmacol, 2009. **76**(1): p. 173-82.
- 50. Ahmed, S.M., et al., *Nrf2 signaling pathway: Pivotal roles in inflammation.*Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis, 2017. **1863**(2): p. 585-597.

- Vijayan, V., F. Wagener, and S. Immenschuh, *The macrophage heme-heme oxygenase-1 system and its role in inflammation*. Biochem Pharmacol, 2018. **153**: p. 159-167.
- 52. Andersson, U. and H. Yang, *HMGB1 is a critical molecule in the pathogenesis of Gram-negative sepsis.* Journal of Intensive Medicine, 2022.
- 53. Deng, C., et al., *Targeting HMGB1 for the treatment of sepsis and sepsisinduced organ injury.* Acta Pharmacol Sin, 2021.
- 54. Lu, B., et al., *Novel role of PKR in inflammasome activation and HMGB1 release.* Nature, 2012. **488**(7413): p. 670-4.
- 55. Lamkanfi, M., et al., *Inflammasome-dependent release of the alarmin HMGB1 in endotoxemia.* J Immunol, 2010. **185**(7): p. 4385-92.
- Li, W., et al., LPS Induces Active HMGB1 Release From Hepatocytes Into Exosomes Through the Coordinated Activities of TLR4 and Caspase-11/GSDMD Signaling. Front Immunol, 2020. 11: p. 229.
- Zhu, C.S., et al., Endogenous Regulation and Pharmacological Modulation of Sepsis-Induced HMGB1 Release and Action: An Updated Review. Cells, 2021. 10(9).
- 58. Zhang, T., et al., *The C5a/C5aR2 axis promotes renal inflammation and tissue damage.* JCI Insight, 2020. **5**(7).
- Qin, S., et al., Role of HMGB1 in apoptosis-mediated sepsis lethality. J Exp Med, 2006. 203(7): p. 1637-42.
- Thapa, R.J., et al., Interferon-induced RIP1/RIP3-mediated necrosis requires PKR and is licensed by FADD and caspases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2013. 110(33): p. E3109-18.
- Jiang, W., C.W. Bell, and D.S. Pisetsky, *The relationship between* apoptosis and high-mobility group protein 1 release from murine macrophages stimulated with lipopolysaccharide or polyinosinicpolycytidylic acid. J Immunol, 2007. **178**(10): p. 6495-503.

- 62. Pisetsky, D.S., *The expression of HMGB1 on microparticles released during cell activation and cell death in vitro and in vivo.* Mol Med, 2014. 20: p. 158-63.
- Pisetsky, D.S., J. Gauley, and A.J. Ullal, *HMGB1 and microparticles as mediators of the immune response to cell death*. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2011. **15**(8): p. 2209-19.
- 64. Cho, Y.S., et al., *Phosphorylation-driven assembly of the RIP1-RIP3* complex regulates programmed necrosis and virus-induced inflammation.
  Cell, 2009. **137**(6): p. 1112-23.
- 65. He, S., et al., *Receptor interacting protein kinase-3 determines cellular necrotic response to TNF-alpha.* Cell, 2009. **137**(6): p. 1100-11.
- 66. Allocca, M., et al., Inflammation, necrosis, and the kinase RIP3 are key mediators of AAG-dependent alkylation-induced retinal degeneration.
   Science Signaling, 2019. 12(568): p. eaau9216.
- 67. Murakami, Y., et al., *Programmed necrosis, not apoptosis, is a key mediator of cell loss and DAMP-mediated inflammation in dsRNA-induced retinal degeneration.* Cell Death Differ, 2014. **21**(2): p. 270-7.
- Zhang, D.-W., et al., *RIP3, an Energy Metabolism Regulator That* Switches TNF-Induced Cell Death from Apoptosis to Necrosis. Science, 2009. **325**(5938): p. 332-336.
- 69. Hornung, V., et al., AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. Nature, 2009. 458(7237):
   p. 514-8.
- Wen, Q., et al., *The release and activity of HMGB1 in ferroptosis.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2019. **510**(2): p. 278-283.
- 71. Dupont, N., et al., *Autophagy-based unconventional secretory pathway for extracellular delivery of IL-1beta.* EMBO J, 2011. **30**(23): p. 4701-11.
- 72. Kim, Y.H., et al., Secretory autophagy machinery and vesicular trafficking are involved in HMGB1 secretion. Autophagy, 2021. **17**(9): p. 2345-2362.
- Tang, D., et al., *The molecular machinery of regulated cell death.* Cell Res, 2019. 29(5): p. 347-364.

- 74. Morinaga, Y., et al., Legionella pneumophila induces cathepsin Bdependent necrotic cell death with releasing high mobility group box1 in macrophages. Respiratory Research, 2010. **11**(1): p. 158.
- Zhang, Y., et al., Contribution of cathepsin B-dependent Nlrp3 inflammasome activation to nicotine-induced endothelial barrier dysfunction. Eur J Pharmacol, 2019. 865: p. 172795.
- 76. Kang, R., et al., *HMGB1 in health and disease.* Mol Aspects Med, 2014.
  40: p. 1-116.
- Song, X., et al., *JTC801 Induces pH-dependent Death Specifically in Cancer Cells and Slows Growth of Tumors in Mice.* Gastroenterology, 2018. **154**(5): p. 1480-1493.
- Fang, X., et al., *The HMGB1-AGER-STING1 pathway mediates the sterile inflammatory response to alkaliptosis.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2021. 560: p. 165-171.
- Thalin, C., et al., Neutrophil Extracellular Traps: Villains and Targets in Arterial, Venous, and Cancer-Associated Thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2019. 39(9): p. 1724-1738.
- Tohme, S., et al., Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Promote the Development and Progression of Liver Metastases after Surgical Stress. Cancer Res, 2016. 76(6): p. 1367-80.
- Tadie, J.M., et al., *HMGB1 promotes neutrophil extracellular trap* formation through interactions with Toll-like receptor 4. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2013. **304**(5): p. L342-9.
- Imai, S., et al., Occurrence of Amphoterin (HMG1) as an Endogenous Protein of Human Platelets that Is Exported to the Cell Surface upon Platelet Activation. Thrombosis and Haemostasis, 2000. 84(12): p. 1087-1094.
- Vogel, S., et al., *Platelet-derived HMGB1 is a critical mediator of thrombosis.* J Clin Invest, 2015. **125**(12): p. 4638-54.
- 84. Stark, K., et al., *Disulfide HMGB1 derived from platelets coordinates venous thrombosis in mice.* Blood, 2016. **128**(20): p. 2435-2449.

- 85. Ohndorf, U.M., et al., *Basis for recognition of cisplatin-modified DNA by high-mobility-group proteins.* Nature, 1999. **399**(6737): p. 708-712.
- 86. Liu, Y., R. Prasad, and S.H. Wilson, *HMGB1: roles in base excision repair* and related function. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2010. **1799**(1-2): p. 119-30.
- Lange, S.S. and K.M. Vasquez, *HMGB1: The jack-of-all-trades protein is a master DNA repair mechanic.* Molecular Carcinogenesis, 2009. 48(7): p. 571-580.
- 88. Giavara, S., et al., Yeast Nhp6A/B and mammalian Hmgb1 facilitate the maintenance of genome stability. Curr Biol, 2005. **15**(1): p. 68-72.
- Lange, S.S., D.L. Mitchell, and K.M. Vasquez, *High mobility group protein* B1 enhances DNA repair and chromatin modification after DNA damage. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2008. **105**(30): p. 10320-10325.
- 90. Krynetskaia, N., et al., *High mobility group protein B1 is an activator of apoptotic response to antimetabolite drugs*. Mol Pharmacol, 2008. **73**(1): p. 260-9.
- Prasad, R., et al., *HMGB1 is a cofactor in mammalian base excision repair.* Mol Cell, 2007. 27(5): p. 829-41.
- 92. Sawchuk, D.J., et al., V(D)J recombination: Modulation of RAG1 and RAG2 cleavage activity on 12/23 substrates by whole cell extract and DNA-bending proteins. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1997. 185(11): p. 2025-2032.
- Swanson, P.C., Fine structure and activity of discrete RAG-HMG complexes on V(D)J recombination signals. Molecular and Cellular Biology, 2002. 22(5): p. 1340-1351.
- 94. Polanská, E., et al., HMGB1 gene knockout in mouse embryonic fibroblasts results in reduced telomerase activity and telomere dysfunction. Chromosoma, 2012. **121**(4): p. 419-431.
- 95. Chen, R., et al., *High mobility group protein B1 controls liver cancer initiation through yes-associated protein -dependent aerobic glycolysis.* Hepatology, 2018. 67(5): p. 1823-1841.

- 96. Tang, D., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 is essential for mitochondrial quality control.* Cell Metab, 2011. **13**(6): p. 701-11.
- 97. Sofiadis, K., et al., HMGB1 coordinates SASP-related chromatin folding and RNA homeostasis on the path to senescence. Mol Syst Biol, 2021.
  17(6): p. e9760.
- 98. Tang, D., et al., *Endogenous HMGB1 regulates autophagy.* J Cell Biol, 2010. **190**(5): p. 881-92.
- 99. Tang, D., et al., *High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) activates an autophagic response to oxidative stress.* Antioxid Redox Signal, 2011. **15**(8): p. 2185-95.
- 100. Livesey, K.M., et al., *p53/HMGB1 complexes regulate autophagy and apoptosis.* Cancer Res, 2012. **72**(8): p. 1996-2005.
- 101. Zhang, X., et al., Silencing of functional p53 attenuates NAFLD by promoting HMGB1-related autophagy induction. Hepatol Int, 2020. 14(5): p. 828-841.
- 102. Zhu, X., et al., *Cytosolic HMGB1 controls the cellular autophagy/apoptosis checkpoint during inflammation.* J Clin Invest, 2015. **125**(3): p. 1098-110.
- 103. Muniappan, L., et al., Calpain Inhibition Attenuates Adipose Tissue Inflammation and Fibrosis in Diet-induced Obese Mice. Sci Rep, 2017.
   7(1): p. 14398.
- 104. Yang, H., et al., A critical cysteine is required for HMGB1 binding to Tolllike receptor 4 and activation of macrophage cytokine release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2010. **107**(26): p. 11942-7.
- 105. Ling, Y., et al., *Heparin changes the conformation of high-mobility group* protein 1 and decreases its affinity toward receptor for advanced glycation endproducts in vitro. Int Immunopharmacol, 2011. **11**(2): p. 187-93.
- Treutiger, C.J., et al., *High mobility group 1 B-box mediates activation of human endothelium.* Journal of Internal Medicine, 2003. **254**(4): p. 375-385.

- 107. Kokkola, R., et al., RAGE is the Major Receptor for the Proinflammatory Activity of HMGB1 in Rodent Macrophages. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology, 2005. 61(1): p. 1-9.
- 108. Dumitriu, I.E., et al., *The secretion of HMGB1 is required for the migration of maturing dendritic cells.* J Leukoc Biol, 2007. **81**(1): p. 84-91.
- 109. Fiuza, C., et al., *Inflammation-promoting activity of HMGB1 on human microvascular endothelial cells.* Blood, 2003. **101**(7): p. 2652-60.
- 110. Fan, J., et al., *Hemorrhagic shock induces NAD(P)H oxidase activation in neutrophils: role of HMGB1-TLR4 signaling.* J Immunol, 2007. **178**(10): p. 6573-80.
- 111. Schiraldi, M., et al., HMGB1 promotes recruitment of inflammatory cells to damaged tissues by forming a complex with CXCL12 and signaling via CXCR4. J Exp Med, 2012. 209(3): p. 551-63.
- 112. Zandarashvili, L., et al., *Real-time kinetics of high-mobility group box 1* (HMGB1) oxidation in extracellular fluids studied by in situ protein NMR spectroscopy. J Biol Chem, 2013. **288**(17): p. 11621-7.
- 113. Yang, H., et al., *MD-2 is required for disulfide HMGB1-dependent TLR4 signaling.* J Exp Med, 2015. **212**(1): p. 5-14.
- 114. Bianchi, M.E., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 protein orchestrates* responses to tissue damage via inflammation, innate and adaptive immunity, and tissue repair. Immunol Rev, 2017. **280**(1): p. 74-82.
- 115. Kazama, H., et al., Induction of immunological tolerance by apoptotic cells requires caspase-dependent oxidation of high-mobility group box-1 protein. Immunity, 2008. 29(1): p. 21-32.
- Venereau, E., et al., *Mutually exclusive redox forms of HMGB1 promote cell recruitment or proinflammatory cytokine release.* J Exp Med, 2012.
   209(9): p. 1519-28.
- Hubert, P., et al., *Extracellular HMGB1 blockade inhibits tumor growth* through profoundly remodeling immune microenvironment and enhances checkpoint inhibitor-based immunotherapy. J Immunother Cancer, 2021. 9(3).

- 118. Brück, E., et al., Prolonged elevation of plasma HMGB1 is associated with cognitive impairment in intensive care unit survivors. Intensive Care Medicine, 2020. 46(4): p. 811-812.
- 119. Hori, O., et al., The receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) is a cellular binding site for amphoterin. Mediation of neurite outgrowth and co-expression of rage and amphoterin in the developing nervous system. J Biol Chem, 1995. **270**(43): p. 25752-61.
- 120. LeBlanc, P.M., et al., An immunogenic peptide in the A-box of HMGB1 protein reverses apoptosis-induced tolerance through RAGE receptor. J Biol Chem, 2014. 289(11): p. 7777-86.
- 121. Taguchi, A., et al., *Blockade of RAGE–amphoterin signalling suppresses tumour growth and metastases.* Nature, 2000. **405**(6784): p. 354-360.
- 122. Sakaguchi, M., et al., *TIRAP, an adaptor protein for TLR2/4, transduces a signal from RAGE phosphorylated upon ligand binding.* PLoS One, 2011.
  6(8): p. e23132.
- Kang, R., et al., *The HMGB1/RAGE inflammatory pathway promotes* pancreatic tumor growth by regulating mitochondrial bioenergetics. Oncogene, 2014. **33**(5): p. 567-77.
- Tian, J., et al., Toll-like receptor 9-dependent activation by DNA-containing immune complexes is mediated by HMGB1 and RAGE. Nat Immunol, 2007. 8(5): p. 487-96.
- 125. Li, X., et al., Extracellular, but not intracellular HMGB1, facilitates self-DNA induced macrophage activation via promoting DNA accumulation in endosomes and contributes to the pathogenesis of lupus nephritis. Mol Immunol, 2015. 65(1): p. 177-88.
- 126. Tian, S., et al., HMGB1 exacerbates renal tubulointerstitial fibrosis through facilitating M1 macrophage phenotype at the early stage of obstructive injury. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 2015. **308**(1): p. F69-75.
- 127. Son, M., et al., *C1q and HMGB1 reciprocally regulate human macrophage polarization.* Blood, 2016. **128**(18): p. 2218-2228.
- 128. Rojas, A., et al., *HMGB1 enhances the protumoral activities of M2 macrophages by a RAGE-dependent mechanism.* Tumor Biology, 2016.
  37(3): p. 3321-3329.
- 129. Liu, T., et al., HMGB1-C1q complexes regulate macrophage function by switching between leukotriene and specialized proresolving mediator biosynthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2019. **116**(46): p. 23254-23263.
- 130. Maugeri, N., et al., Activated platelets present high mobility group box 1 to neutrophils, inducing autophagy and promoting the extrusion of neutrophil extracellular traps. J Thromb Haemost, 2014. **12**(12): p. 2074-88.
- 131. Chang, J.S., et al., Oxygen deprivation triggers upregulation of early growth response-1 by the receptor for advanced glycation end products. Circ Res, 2008. 102(8): p. 905-13.
- Yan, W., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 activates caspase-1 and promotes hepatocellular carcinoma invasiveness and metastases.* Hepatology, 2012. 55(6): p. 1863-75.
- 133. van Beijnum, J.R., et al., *Tumor angiogenesis is enforced by autocrine regulation of high-mobility group box 1.* Oncogene, 2013. **32**(3): p. 363-74.
- 134. Conti, L., et al., The noninflammatory role of high mobility group box 1/tolllike receptor 2 axis in the self-renewal of mammary cancer stem cells. The FASEB Journal, 2013. 27(12): p. 4731-4744.
- 135. Qiu, Y., et al., HMGB1-promoted and TLR2/4-dependent NK cell maturation and activation take part in rotavirus-induced murine biliary atresia. PLoS Pathog, 2014. **10**(3): p. e1004011.
- Apetoh, L., et al., *Toll-like receptor 4-dependent contribution of the immune system to anticancer chemotherapy and radiotherapy*. Nat Med, 2007. **13**(9): p. 1050-9.
- 137. Li, J., et al., *Structural basis for the proinflammatory cytokine activity of high mobility group box 1.* Molecular medicine (Cambridge, Mass.), 2003.
  9(1-2): p. 37-45.

- He, M., et al., *Exploring the biological functional mechanism of the HMGB1/TLR4/MD-2 complex by surface plasmon resonance*. Mol Med, 2018. 24(1): p. 21.
- Back, M., et al., Inflammation and its resolution in atherosclerosis: mediators and therapeutic opportunities. Nat Rev Cardiol, 2019. 16(7): p. 389-406.
- Biscetti, F., et al., Association between carotid plaque vulnerability and high mobility group box-1 serum levels in a diabetic population.
   Cardiovasc Diabetol, 2021. 20(1): p. 114.
- Benlier, N., et al., Association of high mobility group box 1 protein with coronary artery disease. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann, 2019. 27(4): p. 251-255.
- 142. Degryse, B., et al., The High Mobility Group (Hmg) Boxes of the Nuclear Protein Hmg1 Induce Chemotaxis and Cytoskeleton Reorganization in Rat Smooth Muscle Cells. Journal of Cell Biology, 2001. 152(6): p. 1197-1206.
- Porto, A., et al., Smooth muscle cells in human atherosclerotic plaques secrete and proliferate in response to high mobility group box 1 protein.
   FASEB J, 2006. 20(14): p. 2565-6.
- 144. Cipollone, F., et al., The receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying arachidonate-dependent inflammatory and proteolytic response in human atherosclerotic plaques: role of glycemic control. Circulation, 2003. 108(9): p. 1070-7.
- 145. Bucciarelli, L.G., et al., RAGE blockade stabilizes established atherosclerosis in diabetic apolipoprotein E-null mice. Circulation, 2002.
  106(22): p. 2827-35.
- 146. Kalinina, N., et al., Increased expression of the DNA-binding cytokine HMGB1 in human atherosclerotic lesions: role of activated macrophages and cytokines. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2004. 24(12): p. 2320-5.
- 147. Maurya, M.R., et al., Longitudinal shear stress response in human endothelial cells to atheroprone and atheroprotective conditions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2021. **118**(4).

- 148. Meng, Q., et al., Laminar shear stress inhibits inflammation by activating autophagy in human aortic endothelial cells through HMGB1 nuclear translocation. Commun Biol, 2022. 5(1): p. 425.
- 149. Ihara, Y., et al., Upregulation of the ligand-RAGE pathway via the angiotensin II type I receptor is essential in the pathogenesis of diabetic atherosclerosis. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 2007. 43(4): p. 455-64.
- 150. Jeong, J., et al., Soluble RAGE attenuates AnglI-induced endothelial hyperpermeability by disrupting HMGB1-mediated crosstalk between AT1R and RAGE. Exp Mol Med, 2019. **51**(9): p. 1-15.
- 151. Wang, R., et al., Activation of NLRP3 Inflammasome Promotes Foam Cell Formation in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells and Atherogenesis Via HMGB1. J Am Heart Assoc, 2018. 7(19): p. e008596.
- 152. Ghaffari, S., et al., Endothelial HMGB1 Is a Critical Regulator of LDL Transcytosis via an SREBP2-SR-BI Axis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2021. 41(1): p. 200-216.
- 153. Liu, M., et al., Simvastatin suppresses vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis in ApoE(-/-) mice by downregulating the HMGB1-RAGE axis. Acta Pharmacol Sin, 2013. 34(6): p. 830-6.
- 154. Cai, J., et al., HMGB1-Driven Inflammation and Intimal Hyperplasia After Arterial Injury Involves Cell-Specific Actions Mediated by TLR4.
   Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2015. 35(12): p. 2579-93.
- 155. Chen, J., et al., *Inhibition of neointimal hyperplasia in the rat carotid artery injury model by a HMGB1 inhibitor.* Atherosclerosis, 2012. **224**(2): p. 332-9.
- 156. Sawada, H., et al., Twenty Years of Studying AnglI (Angiotensin II)-Induced Abdominal Aortic Pathologies in Mice: Continuing Questions and Challenges to Provide Insight Into the Human Disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2022. 42(3): p. 277-288.
- 157. Wu, C.H., et al., *Renin-Angiotensin System and Cardiovascular Functions.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2018. **38**(7): p. e108-e116.

- Shen, Y.H., et al., *Aortic Aneurysms and Dissections Series*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2020. 40(3): p. e37-e46.
- Davis, F.M., A. Daugherty, and H.S. Lu, *Updates of Recent Aortic* Aneurysm Research. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2019. **39**(3): p. e83e90.
- Owens, A.P., 3rd, et al., MyD88 deficiency attenuates angiotensin IIinduced abdominal aortic aneurysm formation independent of signaling through Toll-like receptors 2 and 4. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2011.
   31(12): p. 2813-9.
- Zhang, F., et al., Anti-receptor for advanced glycation end products therapies as novel treatment for abdominal aortic aneurysm. Ann Surg, 2009. 250(3): p. 416-23.
- 162. Kohno, T., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 protein blockade suppresses* development of abdominal aortic aneurysm. J Cardiol, 2012. **59**(3): p. 299-306.
- 163. Lai, C.H., et al., *Toll-Like Receptor 4 Is Essential in the Development of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm.* PLoS One, 2016. **11**(1): p. e0146565.
- Sharma, A.K., et al., Mesenchymal Stem Cells Attenuate NADPH
   Oxidase-Dependent High Mobility Group Box 1 Production and Inhibit
   Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2016. 36(5):
   p. 908-18.
- Boytard, L., et al., Lung-derived HMGB1 is detrimental for vascular remodeling of metabolically imbalanced arterial macrophages. Nat Commun, 2020. 11(1): p. 4311.
- Boucherat, O., et al., New Insights Into HIMF (Hypoxia-Induced Mitogenic Factor)-Mediated Signaling Pathways in Pulmonary Hypertension.
   Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2019. 39(12): p. 2451-2453.
- 167. Ruopp, N.F. and B.A. Cockrill, *Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension: A Review.* JAMA, 2022. **327**(14): p. 1379-1391.
- 168. Lin, Q., et al., *HIMF (Hypoxia-Induced Mitogenic Factor) Signaling Mediates the HMGB1 (High Mobility Group Box 1)-Dependent Endothelial*

*and Smooth Muscle Cell Crosstalk in Pulmonary Hypertension.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2019. **39**(12): p. 2505-2519.

- 169. Zhou, Q., et al., Endothelial specific deletion of HMGB1 increases blood pressure and retards ischemia recovery through eNOS and ROS pathway in mice. Redox Biol, 2021. 41: p. 101890.
- Sadamura-Takenaka, Y., et al., *HMGB1 promotes the development of pulmonary arterial hypertension in rats.* PLoS One, 2014. 9(7): p. e102482.
- Dai, M., et al., *HMGB1 is mechanistically essential in the development of experimental pulmonary hypertension.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2019.
   316(2): p. C175-C185.
- Huang, Y.Y., et al., *Elevated serum HMGB1 in pulmonary arterial hypertension secondary to congenital heart disease.* Vascul Pharmacol, 2016. 85: p. 66-72.
- 173. Zemskova, M., et al., *Sex-specific stress response and HMGB1 release in pulmonary endothelial cells.* PLoS One, 2020. **15**(4): p. e0231267.
- 174. Rafikov, R., et al., Gender Difference in Damage-Mediated Signaling Contributes to Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Antioxid Redox Signal, 2019. 31(13): p. 917-932.
- Zemskova, M., et al., *Necrosis-Released HMGB1 (High Mobility Group Box 1) in the Progressive Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension Associated With Male Sex.* Hypertension, 2020. **76**(6): p. 1787-1799.
- 176. Mohamed, R., et al., *Greater high-mobility group box 1 in male compared with female spontaneously hypertensive rats worsens renal ischemiareperfusion injury.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2020. **134**(13): p. 1751-1762.
- 177. Daugherty, A., et al., Recommendation on Design, Execution, and Reporting of Animal Atherosclerosis Studies: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2017.
  37(9): p. e131-e157.
- 178. Dave, S.H., et al., *Ethyl pyruvate decreases HMGB1 release and ameliorates murine colitis.* J Leukoc Biol, 2009. **86**(3): p. 633-43.

- Maeda, S., et al., *Essential roles of high-mobility group box 1 in the development of murine colitis and colitis-associated cancer.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. 360(2): p. 394-400.
- 180. Mollica, L., et al., *Glycyrrhizin binds to high-mobility group box 1 protein and inhibits its cytokine activities.* Chem Biol, 2007. **14**(4): p. 431-41.
- 181. Ding, J.W., et al., Glycyrrhizin, a High-Mobility Group Box 1 Inhibitor, Improves Lipid Metabolism and Suppresses Vascular Inflammation in Apolipoprotein E Knockout Mice. J Vasc Res, 2018. 55(6): p. 365-377.
- Gitlin, J.M. and C.D. Loftin, *Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition increases lipopolysaccharide-induced atherosclerosis in mice.* Cardiovasc Res, 2009. 81(2): p. 400-7.
- Cuaz-Perolin, C., et al., Antiinflammatory and antiatherogenic effects of the NF-kappaB inhibitor acetyl-11-keto-beta-boswellic acid in LPSchallenged ApoE-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2008. 28(2): p. 272-7.
- 184. Lew, W.Y., et al., *Recurrent exposure to subclinical lipopolysaccharide increases mortality and induces cardiac fibrosis in mice.* PLoS One, 2013.
   8(4): p. e61057.
- Davis, F.M., D.L. Rateri, and A. Daugherty, *Mechanisms of aortic aneurysm formation: translating preclinical studies into clinical therapies.* Heart, 2014. **100**(19): p. 1498-505.
- 186. Sawada, H., et al., *Ultrasound Imaging of the Thoracic and Abdominal Aorta in Mice to Determine Aneurysm Dimensions.* J Vis Exp, 2019(145).
- 187. Biros, E., et al., *Differential gene expression in human abdominal aortic aneurysm and aortic occlusive disease.* Oncotarget; Vol 6, No 15, 2015.
- Spin, J.M., et al., *Transcriptional profiling and network analysis of the murine angiotensin II-induced abdominal aortic aneurysm.* Physiol Genomics, 2011. 43(17): p. 993-1003.
- Xie, Z., et al., *Gene Set Knowledge Discovery with Enrichr.* Current Protocols, 2021. 1(3): p. e90.

- 190. Wahid, A., et al., *High-mobility group box 1 serves as an inflammation driver of cardiovascular disease.* Biomed Pharmacother, 2021. **139**: p. 111555.
- Lu, H., et al., Hypercholesterolemia Induced by a PCSK9 Gain-of-Function Mutation Augments Angiotensin II-Induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in C57BL/6 Mice-Brief Report. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2016. 36(9): p. 1753-7.
- 192. Lenk, G.M., et al., Whole genome expression profiling reveals a significant role for immune function in human abdominal aortic aneurysms. BMC Genomics, 2007. 8: p. 237.
- 193. Lenk, G.M., et al., Global Expression Profiles in Human Normal and Aneurysmal Abdominal Aorta Based on Two Distinct Whole Genome Microarray Platforms. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2006. **1085**(1): p. 360-362.
- 194. Gabel, G., et al., Parallel Murine and Human Aortic Wall Genomics Reveals Metabolic Reprogramming as Key Driver of Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Progression. J Am Heart Assoc, 2021. 10(17): p. e020231.
- Chappell, A.E., et al., *Mechanisms of palmitic acid-conjugated antisense oligonucleotide distribution in mice.* Nucleic Acids Res, 2020. 48(8): p. 4382-4395.
- Prakash, T.P., et al., *Fatty acid conjugation enhances potency of antisense oligonucleotides in muscle*. Nucleic Acids Res, 2019. **47**(12): p. 6029-6044.
- 197. Linnane, E., et al., Differential uptake, kinetics and mechanisms of intracellular trafficking of next-generation antisense oligonucleotides across human cancer cell lines. Nucleic Acids Res, 2019. 47(9): p. 4375-4392.
- Liu, J., et al., Hypercholesterolemia Accelerates Both the Initiation and Progression of Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms.
   Annals of vascular medicine and research, 2020. 6(2): p. 1099.

199. Liu, J., et al., Associations of ApoAI and ApoB-containing lipoproteins with AngII-induced abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2015. **35**(8): p. 1826-34.

#### VITA

#### **Education**

#### University of Kentucky

Saha Cardiovascular Research Center Lexington, KY PhD, Nutritional Sciences 2018 – 2023 (expected) Emphasis: Biochemical and Molecular Nutrition

## University of Kentucky

Lexington, KY Master of Science, Nutritional Sciences 2014 – 2016 Emphasis: Biochemical and Molecular Nutrition

# Science and Research Branch, IAU

Tehran, Iran Bachelor Science, Food Science 2009 – 2014

# **Professional Positions**

# University of Kentucky

Saha Cardiovascular Research Center Lexington, KY Graduate Research Assistant – PI: Alan Daugherty, PhD, DSc 2018 - 2022

# University of Kentucky

#### Saha Cardiovascular Research Center

Lexington, KY Laboratory Technician 2016 - 2017

# University of Kentucky

**Department of Pharmacology and Nutritional Sciences** Lexington, KY Graduate Research Assistant 2015 – 2016

#### Honors and Awards

First Place, Poster Presentation Barnstable Brown Obesity and Diabetes Research Day University of Kentucky, 2021

First Place, Poster Presentation Physiology Retreat Department of Physiology, University of Kentucky, 2020

Second Place, Poster Presentation, Physiology Retreat Department of Physiology, University of Kentucky, 2020

Second Place, Poster Presentation Barnstable Brown Obesity and Diabetes Research Day University of Kentucky, 2019

Third place, Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition Conference of Southern Graduate Schools, 2018

First place, UK Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition University of Kentucky, 2017

First place, UK Physiology Retreat 1-Minute Research Blitz University of Kentucky, 2016

Third place, UK Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition University of Kentucky, 2015

People's choice award, UK Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition University of Kentucky, 2015

First place, UK Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition, University of Kentucky, 2014

People's choice award, UK Three-Minute Thesis (3MT®) Competition University of Kentucky, 2014

## **Publications**

- Abbasi F, Adatorwovor R, Davarpanah MA, Mansoori Y, Hajiani M, Azodi F, Sefidbakht S, Davoudi S, Rezaei F, Mohammadmoradi S, Asadipooya K. <u>A Randomized Trial of</u> <u>Sitagliptin and Spironolactone With Combination Therapy in Hospitalized Adults With</u> <u>COVID-19</u>. J Endocr Soc. 2022 Feb 7;6(4):bvac017. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvac017. PMID: 35261932; PMCID: PMC8898039.
- Mohammadmoradi S, Howatt DA, Lu HS, Daugherty A, Saha SP. <u>Bitter Melon (Momordica charantia L.) Supplementation Has No Effect on Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis in Mice</u>. Curr Dev Nutr. 2020 Sep 14;4(10):nzaa148. doi: 10.1093/cdn/nzaa148. PMID: 33103042; PMCID: PMC7568838.
- Wu CH, Mohammadmoradi S, Chen JZ, Sawada H, Daugherty A, Lu HS. <u>Renin-Angiotensin System and Cardiovascular Functions</u>. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2018 Jul;38(7):e108-e116. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.118.311282. PMID: 29950386; PMCID: PMC6039412
- Fatemi F, Mohammadzadeh A, Sadeghi MR, Akhondi MM, Mohammadmoradi S, Kamali K, Lackpour N, Jouhari S, Zafadoust S, Mokhtar S, Giahi L. <u>Role of vitamin E and D3</u> <u>supplementation in Intra-Cytoplasmic Sperm Injection outcomes of women with polycystic</u> <u>ovarian syndrome: A double blinded randomized placebo- controlled trial.</u> Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2017 Apr;18:23-30. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2017.01.002. Epub 2017 Jan 27. PMID: 29132734.
- Muniappan L, Javidan A, Jiang W, Mohammadmoradi S, Moorleghen JJ, Katz WS, Balakrishnan A, Howatt DA, Subramanian V. <u>Calpain Inhibition Attenuates Adipose Tissue</u> <u>Inflammation and Fibrosis in Diet-induced Obese Mice</u>. Sci Rep. 2017 Oct 31;7(1):14398. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14719-9. PMID: 29089532; PMCID: PMC5663911.
- Wu CH, Mohammadmoradi S, Thompson J, Su W, Gong M, Nguyen G, Yiannikouris F. <u>Adipocyte (Pro)Renin-Receptor Deficiency Induces Lipodystrophy, Liver Steatosis and</u> <u>Increases Blood Pressure in Male Mice</u>. Hypertension. 2016 Jul;68(1):213-9. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.06954. Epub 2016 May 16. PMID: 27185751; PMCID: PMC4900901.
- Giahi L, Mohammadmoradi S, Javidan A, Sadeghi MR. <u>Nutritional modifications in male</u> <u>infertility: a systematic review covering 2 decades</u>. Nutr Rev. 2016 Feb;74(2):118-30. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuv059. Epub 2015 Dec 24. PMID: 26705308; PMCID: PMC4892303.
- McEwen LN, Ibrahim M, Ali NM, Assaad-Khalil SH, Tantawi HR, Nasr G, Mohammadmoradi S, Misha'l AA, Annabi FA, Ba-Essa EM, Bahijri SM, Tuomilehto J, Jaber LA, Herman WH. <u>Impact of an individualized type 2 diabetes education program on clinical outcomes during</u> <u>Ramadan</u>. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care. 2015 Jun 16;3(1):e000111. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000111. PMID: 26113984; PMCID: PMC4477147.
- Mohammadmoradi S, Javidan A, Goudarzi MH, Kordi J. <u>Comparing the effect of ultra-filtered feta cheese and yoghurt as probiotic carriers on lipid profile: a double blinded randomized controlled trial</u>. Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism. 2015 8(1):1-8, DOI: 10.3233/MNM-140026
- 10. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Javidan A, Kordi J. <u>Boom of probiotics: this time non-alcoholic fatty</u> <u>liver disease – a mini review</u>, Journal of Functional Foods. 2013 11: 30-35, DOI: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.08.022
- 11. Mohammadmoradi S, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani H. Effects of probiotic ultra-filtered feta cheese and raw chicory root extract on lipid profile in healthy adult volunteers: a triple-blinded

*randomized controlled trial*, Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism. 2013 6(3):199-206. DOI:10.1007/s12349-013-0130-6

## Conference Abstracts

- 1. **Mohammadmoradi S,** Sawada H, Ito S, Mullick A, Howatt D. A, Franklin M.K, Lu H.S, Daugherty A. Sustained Inhibition of High Mobility Group Box 1 by Antisense Oligonucleotide, Vascular Discovery 2022, Seattle, WA
- Mohammadmoradi S, Sawada H, Ito S, Mullick A, Howatt D. A, Franklin M.K, Lu H.S, Daugherty A. Sustained Inhibition of High Mobility Group Box 1 by Antisense Oligonucleotide, SELRC Fredrickson Lipiud Research Conference and Saha Cardiovascular Research Day, Lexington, KY, 2021
- 3. **Mohammadmoradi S,** Sawada H, Ito S, Mullick A, Howatt D. A, Franklin M.K, Lu H.S, Daugherty A. Sustained Inhibition of High Mobility Group Box 1 mRNA by Antisense Oligonucleotides Demonstrated a Protracted Half-life of the Protein Vascular Discovery 2021, Virtual Meeting
- 4. **Mohammadmoradi S,** Howatt D. A, Moorleghen J.J, Yang H, Tracey, K.J, Lu H.S, Daugherty A. Angiotensin II-driven Increase in High Mobility Group Box 1 Contributes to Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Development, Barnstable Brown Obesity and Diabetes Research Day, May 23, 2019
- 5. **Mohammadmoradi S,** Howatt D. A, Moorleghen J.J, Yang H, Tracey, K.J, Lu H.S, Daugherty A. Angiotensin II-driven Increase in High Mobility Group Box 1 Contributes to Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Development, Vascular Discovery, May 14-16, 2019 Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- 6. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Lu H, Daugherty A. High Mobility Group Box 1 Enhances Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblast Migration, Saha Cardiovascular Research Day November 2018, Lexington, USA
- 7. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Howatt D. A, Moorleghen J.J, Lu H, Daugherty A. Lipopolysaccharide Fails to Augment Development of Angiotensin II-induced Abdominal Aortic Aneurysms in Mice, Vascular Discovery May 4-6, 2018 San Francisco, California, USA
- 8. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Howatt D. A, Balakrishnan A, Moorleghen J.J, Graham M, Mullick A, Lu H, Daugherty A. Reduced Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-Related Protein-1 in Mature Mice Has Modest Effects on Hypercholesterolemia and Atherosclerosis, Saha Cardiovascular Research Day November 2017, Lexington, USA
- 9. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Javidan A, Jiang W, Subramanian V. *Role of microRNA 146a in regulation of plasma cholesterol in PCSK9-induced hypercholesterolemic mouse model*, ATVB/PVD May 4-6, 2017, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA
- 10. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Javidan A, Jiang W, Subramanian V. *Role of microRNA 146a in regulation of plasma cholesterol in PCSK9-induced hypercholesterolemic mouse model*, SELRC November 3-5, 2016, Lexington, Kentucky, USA
- 11. **Mohammadmoradi S**, Javidan A, Jiang W, Subramanian V. *Role of microRNA 146a in regulation of plasma cholesterol in PCSK9-induced hypercholesterolemic mouse model*,

Department of Physiology Research Retreat, University of Kentucky, August 5<sup>th</sup>, 2016, Lexington, KY, USA

- 12. Wu CH, **Mohammadmoradi S**, Su W, Gong M, Nguyen G, Yiannikouris F. *Adopocyte (Pro)-Renin Receptor deficieny induces lipodystrophy, liver steatosis and increases blood pressure in male mice,* Experimental Biology, April 2-6, 2016, San Diego, CA, USA
- 13. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Kordi J. *Comparing the effect of feta cheese and yoghurt as probiotic carriers on lipid profile: a double blinded randomized controlled trial*. Advances and Controversies in Clinical Nutrition, December 4-6, 2014, National Horbor, MD, USA
- 14. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Kordi J. *A new step toward functional foods: from theory to practice.* 3rd American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 19-21, 2014, Dubai, UAE
- 15. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Sufian M, Goudarzi MH, Javidan A. *Grape, its products and health: a review on human studies.* 3<sup>rd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 19-21, 2014, Dubai, UAE
- 16. Giahi L\*, Javidan A, Mohammadmoradi S. Appropriate nutritional modification, complementary treatment for infertile male: Systematic review of a decade. 3rd American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 19-21, 2014, Dubai, UAE
- 17. Kordi J, **Mohammadmoradi S<sup>\*</sup>.** *Why do we need probiotic cheese on our diet: a look into health and market aspects.* 3<sup>rd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 19-21, 2014, Dubai, UAE
- 18. Mohammadmoradi S\*, Goudarzi MH, Tabatabaei Keshmirian SS, Naderi N, Javidan A, Kashanian N, Asgarinezhad F, Soufian M. Vitamin D and breast cancer: a comprehensive systematic review. 2<sup>nd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 20-22, 2013, Dubai, UAE
- 19. Kashanian N, **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>. *Nutrition and eye disorder: what is the correlation?* 2<sup>nd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 20-22, 2013, Dubai, UAE
- 20. **Mohammadmoradi S**\*, Goudarzi MH, Naderi N, Tabatabaei Keshmirian SS, Javidan A, Kashanian N. *Chocolate and atherosclerosis: a systematic review*. 2<sup>nd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 20-22, 2013, Dubai, UAE
- 21. Mohammadmoradi S\*, Goudarzi MH, Borghei N, Khani Sh, Naderi N, Tabatabaei Keshimirian SS, Javidan A. *Health effects of ginger: a systematic review on human studies.* P 2<sup>nd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 20-22, 2013, Dubai, UAE
- 22. Javidan A, **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Naji Isfaghani HR. *Comparing the effect of ultra-filtered feta cheese and yoghurt as probiotic carriers on lipid profile.* 2<sup>nd</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 20-22, 2013, Dubai, UAE
- 23. Javidan A, **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Naji Isfahani HR. *Comparison between the effect of probiotic feta cheese and probiotic yoghurt on blood lipids.* 1<sup>st</sup> American Society for Nutrition

Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 15-17 2012, Istanbul, Turkey

- 24. Naji Isfahani HR, **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A. *Probiotic olive from theory to practice.* 1<sup>st</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 15-17 2012, Istanbul, Turkey
- 25. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani HR. *Effects of Pro-biotic feta cheese and raw chicory root extract on lipid profile.* 1<sup>st</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 15-17 2012, Istanbul, Turkey
- 26. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani HR. *Health benefits of olive oil oleuropein and oleocanthal.* 1<sup>st</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 15-17 2012, Istanbul, Turkey
- 27. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani HR**.** *Effect of olive oil on atherosclerosis.* 1<sup>st</sup> American Society for Nutrition Middle East Congress (Nutrition in Health and Disease), February 15-17 2012, Istanbul, Turkey
- 28. Torkaman F<sup>\*</sup>, Mohammadmoradi S, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani HR. Comparison of Probiotic cheese and Probiotic yoghurt and their effect on lipid profile. The 1<sup>st</sup> National Probiotics and Prebiotics congress in Iran- from Technology to clinic". National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute of Iran, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences. 18 21 May, 2011, Tehran, Iran
- 29. Naji Isfahani HR, Torkaman F, **Mohammadmoradi S,** Javidan A. *Effect of Probiotic cheese and chicory on hypertension*. The 1<sup>st</sup> National Probiotics and Prebiotics congress in Iranfrom Technology to clinic". National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute of Iran, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences. 18 -21 May 2011, Tehran, Iran
- 30. Javidan A<sup>\*</sup>, **Mohammadmoradi S**, Torkaman F, Naji Isfahani HR. *Effect of Probiotic cheese and raw chicory root extract on lipid profile*. The 1<sup>st</sup> National Probiotics and Prebiotics congress in Iran- from Technology to clinic". National Nutrition and Food Technology Research Institute of Iran, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences. 18 -21 May 2011, Tehran, Iran
- 31. Mohammadmoradi S<sup>\*</sup>, Torkaman F, Naji Isfahani HR, Javidan A. Effect of different dosage in Probiotic cheese on lipid profile. The 1<sup>st</sup> National Probiotics and Prebiotics congress in Iran- from Technology to clinic". National Nutrition and Food Technology Institute (NNFTRI), Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences (SBUMS). 18 -21 May 2011, Tehran, Iran
- 32. **Mohammadmoradi S**<sup>\*</sup>, Javidan A, Naji Isfahani HR. *Relation between inadequate sleep duration and BMI in young adults.* The 11<sup>th</sup> Iranian Nutrition Congress (Nutrition: from Cell to Society), Shiraz University of Medical University. 1 -4 November, 2010, Shiraz, Iran